

Bangor University

MASTERS BY RESEARCH

The Role of UFMylation in Fanconi Anaemia

Campbell-Broad, Charlotte

Award date: 2024

Awarding institution: Bangor University

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.





Ysgoloriaethau Sgiliau Economi Gwybodaeth Knowledge Economy Skills Scholarships



prifysgol BANGOR university

Charlotte Campbell-Broad

500541660

"The Role of UFMylation in Fanconi Anaemia"

Master of Science by Research Thesis

School of Medical and Health Science

I hereby declare that this thesis is the results of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. All other sources are acknowledged by bibliographic references. This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree unless, as agreed by the University, for approved dual awards.

I confirm that I am submitting this work with the agreement of my Supervisor.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my Supervisor, Dr Andrew Pierce. His guidance, faith, and advice throughout this project has been invaluable in my progression as a researcher. Special thanks are due to KESS2 East for funding this research project and to Dr Stephan Meyer of Manchester University for donating cells. I would like to recognise the pleasure of working with the entirety of the Bangor University's Brambell Lab and for all their support. Finally, I would like to extend my most sincere thanks to the encouraging and listening ear of my family, to those at 1 Holyhead Road and to Ben who all acted as creative sound boards throughout this Masters of Science by Research degree.

Contents

Ac	knowledgments	ii
Ab	breviations	v
Tal	bles and Figures	vi
Ab	stract	a
1.	Introduction	1
1	.1 Fanconi Anaemia	1
	1.1.1 FA Management	3
	1.1.2 FA associated ICL repair pathway	4
1	.2 Post translational modification	9
	1.2.1 SUMOylation	9
	1.2.2 Phosphorylation	9
	1.2.3 Ubiquitination	10
	1.2.4 UFMylation	11
1	.3 Rationale	15
2.	Aims and Objectives	16
3.	Results	17
	3.1 UFMylation activity in lymphocyte FA and non-FA cell lines	17
	3.2 FA cell line, CB15-0387, does not show increased sensitivity to	
	increasing MMC concentration compared to non-FA cell line, MRN	20
	3.3 FancD2 Status Queried Integrity of Lymphocyte Cell Lines	22
	3.4 FancD2 Status of Fibroblast FA and non-FA Cell Lines Confirmed	23
	3.5 Significant MMC Sensitivity Difference Between Fibroblast FancD2	
	mutant and intact cell lines	23
	3.6 UFMylation Cascade Facilitators in Fibroblast FA	24
	3.7 Preliminary Further Study	27
4.	Discussion	33
5.	Conclusion	36

6.	Future Work	37
7.	Methodology	
7	7.1 Cell Culture	
7	7.2 Drug Treatment	
7	7.3 Cell Lysis	
	7.3.1 RIPA	
	7.3.2 Immunoprecipitation	
7	7.4 Protein Assay	
7	7.5 Cell Dilution Proliferation Assay	
7	7.6 MMC Drug Dose Proliferation Assay – WST-1	40
7	7.7 Western Blot	40
7	7.8 Immunoprecipitation	41
Bik	bliography	1
Su	pplementary Figures	21
Ар	pendix	25

Abbreviations

AP	Apurinic/Apyramidic site
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
BRCA1	Breast cancer type 1 susceptibility protein
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DSMO	Dimethylsulfoxide
ECL	Enhanced Chemiluminescence Western Blotting Substrate
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ER	Endoplasmic Reticulum
EVI1	Ecotropic viral integration site 1
FA	Fanconi Anaemia
FBS	Foetal Bovine Serum
HEK	Human Embryonic Kidney
HR	Homologous Recombination
ICL	Inter-strand cross link
ID2	Fancl/FancD2 complex
complex	
IP	ImmunoPrecipitation
kDa	Kilo Dalton
MMC	Mitomycin C
MRN	MRE11-Rad50-NSB1 complex
PANC or PaCa	Pancreatic Cancer
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PTM	Post translational Modification
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RPL26	60S ribosomal protein L26
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
Ub	Ubiquitin
UBA5	Ubiquitin-like Modifier activating enzyme 5
UFC1	UFM1-conjugating Enzyme 1
UFL1	UFM1-specific ligase 1
UFM1	Ubiqutin-fold modifier 1
WB	Western Blot

Tables and Figures

Figure 1	Fanconi Anaemia Phenotypes	p.2
Figure 2	Karyotype spread	p.3
Figure 3	ICL repair by the FA pathway	p.5
Figure 4	NER and HR associated with FA DNA damage repair	p.7
Figure 5	UFMylation	p.12
Figure 6	Preliminary Western Blot Data	p.15
Figure 7	MMC/DMSO treated Lymphocyte UFMylation pathway analysis	p.19
Figure 8	Undifferentiable MMC sensitivity between cell lines.	p.21
Figure 9	FancD2 Status Queried Integrity of Lymphocyte Cell Line	p.22
Figure 10	FancD2 Status of Fibroblast FA and non-FA Cell Lines Confirmed	p.23
Figure 11	MMC sensitivity of FA cell line	p.24
Figure 12	Fibroblast FA UFMylation activity	p.25
Figure 13	MMC/DMSO treated Fibroblast UFMylation pathway activity	p.26
Figure 14	Cell pellet density UFM1 test	p.28
Figure 15	Cell pellet density RPL26 test	p.28
Figure 16	Cell pellet density RPL26 repeat	p.29
Figure 17	RPL26 IP with 200mM NaCl IP buffer	p.31
Figure 18	RPL26 IP with 50mM NaCl IP buffer	p.32
Figure 19	EVI1 IP with 200mM NaCl IP buffer	p.32
Table 1	Antibody details	p.42
Supplementary Figure 1	Lymphocyte Multi-day Cell Seeding Density Growth Assay	p.63
Supplementary Figure 2	Fibroblast Multi-day Cell Seeding Density Growth Assay	p.64
Supplementary Figure 3	Cell Pellet Densities	p.65
Appendix	Full images of Western Blots analysed	p.67-72

Abstract

The regulation of cellular activity by intracellular proteins often involves post translational modifications (PTM) with small charged groups, such as PO₄³⁻, or small proteins, such as ubiquitin. This thesis explores the role of PTM of proteins with the 9.1kDa protein ubiquitin-fold modifier 1 (UFM1) in a process called UFMylation, within Fanconi Anaemia (FA) cell lines. This follows preliminary data produced by Pierce *et al.*, (Unpublished) which suggested that UFMylation activity of the target protein RPL26, takes place more predominantly in FA mutant cell lines compared to non-FA cell lines.

UFM1 is added to a protein in a similar addition cascade to ubiquitin with a non-Ubiquitin (non-canonical) E1 activating step, E2 conjugating step and E3 ligating step (UBA5, UFC1 and UFL1 respectively). Where Ubiquitination has been extensively identified throughout the cell to upregulate protein production or mark proteins for degradation, UFMylation has a limited set of targets though their roles are widespread. UFMylation has been credited to be involved in endoplasmic reticulum-homology (with RPL26), homologous recombination (with MRE11) and protein regulation (with DDGRK1) amongst other things. The contributing role that the addition of UFM1 has on these targets remains unknown.

FA is a rare autosomal recessive disease characterised by biallelic mutation of any gene within the Fanconi pathway which is crucially is involved with the repair of interstrand crosslinked (ICL) deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA). Failure in ICL repair, particularly in haematopoietic stem cells, leads to bone marrow failure, haematological defects and increase leukemic risk.

Using western blot analysis to explore UFMylation activity we demonstrated UFMylation activity with RPL26, and the presence of UFMylation cascade proteins, across both FA and non-FA cell lines. Preliminary investigation was commenced to explore the impact of cell flask growth conditions and subsequent cell pellet density on RPL26 UFMylation. The initial study suggested that confluency influenced UFMylation activity; potentially reflecting the cell cycle or cell stress dependent nature of UFMylation activity with RPL26.

Contrary to initial observations, UFMylation of RPL26 is not exclusive to FA cell lines, suggesting a broader regulatory role. We speculate UFMylation's involvement in non-catalytic signal transduction pathways and propose further exploration into UFMylation's cellular responses to stress and its implications for protein regulation.

Keywords:

Fanconi Anaemia, UFM1, UFMylation, Signal Transduction, RPL26, RPL26-UFM1, Western Blot, Immunoprecipitation

1. Introduction

1.1 Fanconi Anaemia

Fanconi anaemia (FA) is a rare autosomal recessive condition that affects approximately 1 in 130,000 individuals worldwide per year (Steinberg-Shemer *et al.*, 2020). Originally characterised in 1927 by Swiss paediatrician, Guido Fanconi, who observed a set of three brothers who exhibited severe aplastic anaemia as well as physical and neurological abnormalities (Moreno *et al.*, 2021; Stivaros *et al.*, 2015). FA diagnosis has since been attributed to biallelic mutation of any of the 23 associated genes within the Fanconi pathway (Moreno *et al.*, 2021).

Biallelic mutation of any FA gene (*Fanc*) is leads to malformation of haematopoietic myeloid and lymphoid stem cells due to the role of FA proteins in DNA damage repair (Kelaidi *et al.*, 2019; Sousa *et al.*, 2016; Suzuki *et al.*, 2015). Haematopoietic stem cell disruption leads to pancytopenia, a deficiency of all blood products (Suzuki *et al.*, 2015). Reduced erythrocytes levels characterise the condition as an anaemia, though the erythrocytes that are successfully differentiated are often macrocytic due to overall bone marrow and oxidative stress occurring (Sousa *et al.*, 2016). Impaired lymphoid differentiation results in neutropenia, leading individuals with FA to be at risk of frequent infections (Aliberti *et al.*, 2009). FA patients experience thrombocytopenia due to FA mutations leading to the inhibition of proplatelet protrusion development within megakaryocytes, Figure 1a, a highly specialised precursor cell responsible for the production of platelets within the bone marrow (Machlus & Italiano, 2019; Patel, Hartwig & Italiano, 2005). Thrombocytopenia also contributes to increased risk of infection due to the thrombocytes role in adaptive immune responses and as clotting factors (Holinstat, 2017; Periayah, Halim & Saad, 2017; Ali, Wuescher & Worth, 2015).

The inactivation of FA genes during foetal gestation can lead to developmental defects of the thumbs and forearms, shown in Figure 1b (Thakur & Hiwale, 2023; Rodríguez *et al.*, 2022). Embryological growth defects within FA can also result in neurological delay and abnormalities of important organs including the heart, kidneys, gastrointestinal tract, and eyes (Mehta & Ebens, 2021; Sathyanarayana *et al.*, 2018; Petryk *et al.*, 2015; Habib *et al.*, 2000). Clinical features of FA are associated with a short stature, fertility issues and endocrine insufficiency (Tsui & Crismani, 2019; Castilla-Cortazar *et al.*, 2017). Haematological manifestations associated with FA



Figure 1 – Fanconi Anaemia Phenotypes **A** Comparison of 200x haematoxylin and eosin-stained bone marrow tissue in Non-Fanconi Anaemia (FA) (left) (adapted from The Human Protein Atlas, (2023) megakaryocyte detailed by black arrow) and FA (right) (adapted from Kallen, Dulau-Florea & Calvo, (2018) from a 10-year-old with FancJ mutation with atypical megakaryocyte clustering (black arrows). **B** Malformed radial radius of 8-year-old with FancA mutation: Radiograph (left) and photograph (right) adapted from Thakur & Hiwale (2023).

present in up to 80% of individuals before the age of 10. Severe bone marrow abnormalities that can result in bone marrow failure usually occurs by the age of 8 (Kelaidi *et al.*, 2019; Ceccaldi *et al.*, 2012)

FA genes encode a series of proteins associated with specialised DNA repair of interstrand cross links (ICL) (Knipscheer *et al.*, 2009). When disrupted as in FA, in addition to chromosome mis-segregation events associated with FA, increasing levels of DNA damage and mutation occur and manifests as a 20% higher likelihood of developing haematological malignancies such as acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) (Alter, 2014; Mehta *et al*, 2007). Solid tumours such as squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck have been associated to have an earlier onset of up to 30-years in FA patients (Steinberg-Shemer *et al.*, 2020; Alter 2014; De Rocco *et al.*, 2014; Velleuer and Dietrich, 2014). Expression of ectropic viral integration site 1 (EVI1) has been identified to increase in bone marrow cells during FA-AML associated malignancy (Masamoto *et al.*, 2023; Birdwell Birdwell *et al.*, 2021; Yuan *et al.*, 2015). The zinc-finger transcription factor, EVI1, causes a biphasic inhibition of cell cycle progression and differentiation in haematopoietic progenitor cells in FA and non-FA derived myeloid and epithelial malignancies (Birdwell *et al.*, 2021; Kustikova *et al.*, 2012).





Figure 2 – Karyotype spread **A** Adapted from Wang et al (2009) demonstrating a normal chromosome karyotype spread **B** Adapted from Lee et al, (2012). 4-year-old with multiple FancA mutations diagnosed with Fanconi Anaemia prenatally karyotype spread following lymphocyte exposure to MMC. Child developed short stature, skin discolouration and disformed fingers, his blood count suggested persistent thrombocytopenia, common in FA.

FA is usually diagnosed in young children following identification of the high-risk abnormalities previously mentioned. 10% of FA individuals are diagnosed in young adulthood following investigation of leukaemia or solid tumours (Bhandari, Pawan & Puckett, 2022). Diagnosis can be achieved through blood composition testing (macrocytosis and cytopenia), and cytogenetic chromosome breakage tests run on peripheral blood samples from the patient Figure 2 (Lee *et al.*, 2012; Oostra *et al.*, 2012). Once diagnosed, individuals with severe haematological dysregulation can be treated with blood transfusions and androgen therapy with oxymetholone to stimulate haematopoietic stem cell proliferation. Some patients undergo bone marrow transplantation from a human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-matched donor, often a family relation (Mitchell *et al.*, 2014). However, as FA is an inherited condition the bone marrow donor would also need to under-go genetic testing (Oostra *et al.*, 2012). Up to 75% of patients experience a permanent curing of the haematological complications associated with FA following bone marrow transplantation (Dufour & Pierri, 2022).

FA cell lines have an increased sensitivity to the DNA damaging agent Mitomycin C (MMC), due to the cells disrupted inter-strand crosslink (ICL) repair pathway (Merfort *et al.*, 2022). Figure 2 demonstrates a karyotype spread from an individual with FA who had been diagnosed with FA following chromosome breakage test with MMC (Lee *et al.*, 2012). Chromosome breakage testing utilises the inter-strand crosslinking agent MMC to induce ICLs through the addition of a N²-guanine residue that links the two DNA strands and assess the DNA repair capabilities of the individual with suspected FA (Francies *et al.*, 2018; Ebens *et al.*, 2017). The N²-guanine residue from MMC is added to an area of DNA lacking nucleotides: an apurinic/apyrimidinic (AP) site (Hammarsten *et al.*, 2021; Housh, *et al.*, 2021).

1.1.2 FA associated ICL repair pathway

ICLs can form at AP sites between DNA strands leading to replication fork stalling. Individuals with FA are extremely susceptible to the DNA damaging effect of platinum compounds including the chemotherapeutic cisplatin as well as other chemotherapies containing chloroethylamine functional groups (Ghosal et al., 2020; Lopez-Martinez, Liang & Cohn, 2016; Jabbour, Salem and Sidell, 2014). Exogenous environmental exposures including pollutant carcinogens in cigarette smoke and exhaust fumes, alcohol metabolites and acetaldehyde including dietary fats can also lead to ICL formation (Clauson et al., 2013; Langevin et al., 2011). Illustrated in Figure 3, stalled DNA replication forks surrounding an ICL are recognised by the FANCM-MHF1-FAAP24 complex (Wienk et al., 2013; Tao et al., 2012; Singh et al., 2010). Hyperphosphorylation of FANCM and FAAP24 via ATM-Rad3-related (ATR) cascade signals the check point kinase ChK1 for checkpoint signalling (Collis et al., 2008). The checkpoint signalling recruits the FA Core Complex composed of modular groups: FANCE, FANCF & FANCC; FANCG, FANCA with FAAP20 and FANCB, FAAP100 and FANCL (a ubiquitin E3 ligase) (Tan & Deans, 2021; Knipscheer et al., 2009). FAAP20 is subjected to acetylation on Lysine 152 to protect from proteasomal-degradation signalling by ubiquitination (Nagareddy, Khan and Kim, 2020). This would lead to the polySUMOylation and ubiquitination of FANCA, the degradation of FANCA and therefore failure to compile the FA core complex (Nagareddy, Khan & Kim, 2020; Miteva et al., 2013).



Figure 3 – **ICL repair by the FA pathway.** Created with BioRender.com illustration depicting ICL repair by the FA pathway. ICLs form at an AP site and cause DNA replication fork stalling. The stalling is recognised by the FANCM-FAAP24-MHF1/2 complex which establishes a cell cycle checkpoint. Cell cycle check point activation recruits the FA Core Complex, composed of FANC proteins detailed, to surround the stalled

DNA. The acetylation of FAAP20 is essential for the protection of FANCA and the recruitment of the FA Core Complex. The ID2 complex is recruited following the ubiquitination of the components by FANCL. ID2 involvement recruits the unhooking complex utilised to create a double strand break stabilised by EXO1, REV1 and Pol §. HR repair pathways also involve FANC proteins, continued in Figure 4.

FANCL is a ubiquitin E3 ligase that recruits and ubiquitinates the ID2 complex (FANCD2/FANCI) (Xie *et al.*, 2015). ICL is unhooked by FANCP (SLX4) and FANCQ (XFP-ERCC1) and FAN1 for stability, recruited by Ub-ID2 complex (Imani Nejad *et al.*, 2020; Klein Douwel *et al.*, 2014; Cybulski & Howlett, 2011). The resulting single strands of DNA, one with a single strand DNA break repaired with nucleoside excision repair REV1 and Pol ξ and the other with a nucleotide adduct that is removed with NER machinery then repaired and replication is completed with the HR machinery FANCO (Rad51); FANCD1 (BRCA2); FANCJ and FANCN as well as the MRN complex (MRE11; NSB1; RAD50), with CtIP and EXO1 for stability of the strand invasion, illustrated in Figure 4.

Upon successful formation of the FA core complex, the ubiquitin ligase FANCL (UBE2T) will monoubiquitinate FANCI and FANCD2 (ID2 complex) (Knipscheer et al, 2009). This reversible post translational modification of FANCD2 is crucial for the recruitment of the downstream effector complex (Kottemann & Smogorzewska, 2016), consisting of FANCQ (XPF-ERCC4) and FANCP (SLX4) with FAN1 to stabilise the ICL site and encourage the nucleolytic incision through a process called unhooking (Imani Nejad *et al.*, 2020; Tan *et al.*, 2020; Klein Douwel *et al.*, 2014).

The FANCQ heterodimer mediates repair of DNA lesions with bulky adducts such as ICLs, it cleaves a ssDNA 3' break on the 5' side of the ICL and its supporting XPG cleaves on the 3' side of the damage (Faridounnia, Folkers & Boelens, 2018). Upon this cleavage a 3'-OH group is formed to aid DNA strand invasion during HR. The two DNA strands are then separated, though one retains the nucleolytic lesion. FANCP's



Figure 4 - **NER and HR associated with FA DNA damage repair.** Created with BioRender.com illustration depicting ICL repair by the FA pathway. NER repair of an ICL continues following the FANCP (SLX4) and FANCQ (XFP-ERCC1) and FAN1 unhooking the ICL. The exposed DNA ends are resected 3' to 5' Pol§ and 5' to 3' by EXO1 creating a double strand break recruiting HR repair pathway. Check point established by CtIP and the MRE11-RAD50-NSB1 (MRN complex). The FANC HR proteins are recruited with FANCD1 with FANCN and the FANCJ DNA helicase and subsequently recruit Rad51. Rad51 forms filaments for homologue DNA strand invasion for complementary strand synthesis completing DNA repair.

ubiquitin binding zinc finger interacts with ubiquitinated FANCD2 for efficient recruitment of nucleases for nucleoside excision repair (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2011).

NER completes DNA damage repair (DDR) using the Pol§ holoenzyme (FANCV/REV7), expanded upon in Figure 4. Pol§ is composed of four-subunits that completes strand resection 25-30 nucleotides from the 3'-OH to create a ssDNA overhang with its 3'-5' exonuclease activity (Deshpande *et al.*, 2023; Henninger & Pursell, 2014). Exonuclease 1 (EXO1) works synergistically with Pol§ to accomplish 5' to 3' end resection of the complementary DNA strand to create a double strand break (Morafraile *et al.*, 2020; Chen *et al.*, 2017). EXO1 also ensures that the ssDNA resections are stable during the following homologous recombination (HR) and that transcription activity occurs only between the complementary sequences. Pol§ can also conduct 5'-3' DNA Polymerase activity, that then transcribes the complementary sequence of the DNA excluding the ICL (Deshpande *et al.*, 2015). REV1 ensures that the cross-linked nucleotides are bypassed on the complementary DNA strand (Budzowska *et al.*, 2015; Sharma & Canman, 2012).

The C-terminal interacting protein (CtIP), a co-factor to the MRE11-RAD50-NSB1 (MRN) complex, establishes a cell cycle check point continuing HR (You & Bailis, 2010; Huertas & Jackson, 2009). DNA end resection and stabilisation by FANCQ heterodimer is augmented by the MRN complex (Zhao *et al.*, 2020). FANCN (PALB2) interacts with FANCD1 (BRCA2) as a tumour suppressing partner to localise to DNA damage repair (Holloman, 2011). FANCD1 with FANCN and the FANCJ (BACH1/BRIP1) DNA helicase, are required for the formation of Rad51 filaments with the 3'-OH group on the resected DNA strand for DNA homologue searching and DNA strand exchange during HR (Renaudin & Rosselli, 2020; Kais *et al.*, 2016). FANCJ is utilised to prevent large deletions near guanine dense quadruplex DNA motifs limiting resection (London *et al.*, 2008). Once a DNA homologue is found, Rad51 invades the DNA strand and utilises DNA polymerase ζ (Pol ζ) activity to transcribe a complementary sequence for the over hangs, excluding the ICL (Budzowska *et al.*, 2015; Sharma & Canman, 2012).

Up to 90% of FA diagnoses are caused by mutations within the *FancA*, *FancC* or *FancG* genes (Jeong *et al.*, 2020). Though mutation within any module of the core complex can result in the failure to assemble and the disruption of the FA pathway

leading to DNA damage repair pathway inhibition and the diagnosis of FA (Rageul & Kim, 2020; Lopez-Martinez, Liang & Cohn, 2016). Due to the increased presence of DNA damage, cells are more prone to the accumulation of harmful mutations that can lead to cancers including AML (Lavallée *et al.*, 2015; Lugthart *et al.*, 2008).

1.2 Post translational modification

Post-translational modifications (PTMs) of proteins facilitate the regulation of cellular activity, and the localisation and specificity of interactions (Ramazi & Zahiri, 2021). PTMs diversify the functionality of a protein, often in a reversible fashion, and stimulate specific active sites (Duan & Walther, 2015). PTMs influence gene expression, activation, and DNA repair mechanisms, as illustrated above.

Over 400 distinct types of PTMs have been identified but 24 major PTMs are recognised most widely. These include the addition of acetyl, phosphoryl, glycosyl and methyl groups. SUMOylation, phosphorylation and ubiquitination in particular have been associated with the widest amount of pathway applications.

1.2.1 SUMOylation

SUMOylation is a PTM with the covalent attachment of small ubiquitin-related modifier (SUMO) proteins to lysine residues on target proteins. It has been associated with regulation of genomic stability, cell proliferation and inhibitory roles (Celen & Sahin, 2020). Within the FA pathway the SUMOylation and ubiquitination of FANCA can result in degradation and collapse of ICL repair (Coleman & Huang, 2016). The heterodimer formation of FANCA with FAAP20 is essential for the recruitment of the ID2 complex. FAAP20 protects FANCA from proteasomal degradation by directly interacting with FANCA's SUMO-targeted degron. If exposed FANCA is subjected to SUMO-targeted ubiquitination by RNF4 leading to its own degradation (Nagareddy, Khan & Kim, 2020).

1.2.2 Phosphorylation

Phosphorylation is the addition of a phosphoryl (PO₃) group via adenosine triphosphate (ATP) hydrolysis with a kinase onto a protein (Ardito *et al.*, 2017). Phosphorylation acts as a regulator of signal transduction and can target different amino acids within a protein depending on the intended purpose of the PTM (Ardito *et al.*, 2017). Phosphorylation of tyrosine is extremely important in pathway signalling whereas phosphorylated serine is widely observed during tumorigenesis resulting in the downregulation of DNA damage repair (Padilla-Mendoza *et al.*, 2020).

Serine phosphorylation takes place at hundreds of points within the FA pathway. One such example includes the poly-PO4³⁻ addition to Ser317 of ChK1 in FAAP24 to aid FANCM-MHF1/2, which is phosphorylated on Ser1045, binding to the DNA at the stalled replication fork facilitated by ATR which simultaneously phosphorylates CHK1 to signal the stalling (Singh *et al.*, 2013; Wang *et al.*, 2013; Huang *et al.*, 2010). Phosphorylation also takes place in the HR pathway with the PO4³⁻ addition to MRE11 at Ser104 and Ser676 as a pivotal point of resection in the preparation of the DSB ends (Kijas *et al.*, 2015). This then influences the phosphorylation of EXO1 leading to deregulation of 5' to 3' strand resection (Tomimatsu *et al.*, 2014).

1.2.3 Ubiquitination

Ubiquitination is the addition of small (8.5kDa) protein ubiquitin to ubiquitin-binding domains on proteins (Seyfried *et al.*, 2008). Through extensive research conducted since its discovery in 1975, the binding domains can include Lysine, Cystine, Serine and threonine. Ubiquitin binds to lysine via an isopeptide bond, cystine via thioester bond, and binds to serine and threonine via ester bonds (Callis, 2014; Hurley *et al.*, 2006). Ubiquitin binds directly to its E cascade proteins N-terminus via a peptide bond (Callis, 2014; Scaglione *et al.*, 2013). Ubiquitin has been identified in almost every cellular pathway with its role in maintaining protein homeostasis (Luo *et al.*, 2016). This involves activation of tertiary structure proteins to catalyse subsequent protein-protein interactions in addition to ubiquitin's association with the proteasome system to mark proteins for degradation (Bhattacharyya *et al.*, 2014).

Ubiquitin is essential for the formation of the ID2 complex within the FA pathway to conduct ICL repair. Though ubiquitin is not the only PTM that acts upon this pathway, it is a crucial step. Transferring onto a protein via a three-step enzyme cascade, the pathway for ubiquitin addition follows an E1, E2, and E3 cascade: Ub-activating enzyme; Ub-carrier enzyme; Ub-ligase enzyme respectively (Damgaard, 2021). There are many E1, E2 and E3 suitable for ubiquitination and are referred to in literature as canonical due to their similar domain structures and enzymatic activity, though non-canonical steps are accepted for alternative PTMs (Stewart *et al.*, 2016; Callis, 2014; Hurley, Lee & Prag, 2006).

1.2.4 UFMylation

New PTMs are continually being discovered, though their definitive targets and functions within protein activity are mostly unknown.

UFMylation, associated with the ubiquitin-fold modifier 1 (UFM1) protein was discovered in 2004 by Komatsu *et al.* Its small size, non-enzymatic properties and similar tertiary structure to ubiquitin, Figure 5a, classes UFM1 as a ubiquitin-like protein (Banerjee, Kumar & Wiener, 2020; Merbl *et al.*, 2013; Sung *et al.*, 2007). Though bigger than ubiquitin at 85 amino acids and an atomic mass of 9.1kDa, UFM1 only shares 16% of its protein code with ubiquitin (Banerjee, Kumar & Wiener, 2020). UFM1 also shares the characteristic glycine residue at its C-terminus followed by a serine-cystine dipeptide that is used for activation of a ubiquitin-like protein (Streich & Lima, 2014). UFM1 covalently attaches to its target proteins via an isopeptide bond to lysine residues of substrate proteins in a similar cascade fashion as ubiquitin, Figure 5b (Banerjee, Kumar & Wiener, 2020; Komatsu *et al.*, 2004).

UFMylation adds UFM1 proteins in a similar cascade manner as ubiquitination with non-canonical E complexes, Figure 5b (Peter et al, 2022; Banerjee, Kumar, and Wiener, 2020). UFM1 is initially prepared into a pro-form with the cleaving of a serinecysteine dipeptide at its C-terminal by UFM1 specific proteases (UFSP) 1 (UFSP2 in humans) (Millrine et al., 2022). A then mature UFM1 interacts with non-canonical E1 ubiquitin-like modifier activating enzyme 5 (UBA5) via a non-covalent complex with ATP conjugation at the adenylation domain cystine 250, activating UFM1 in a similar fashion to Ub-E1 (Kumar et al., 2021; Gavin et al., 2014). UFM1-conjugating enzyme (UFC1) acts as E2 and interacts with the ubiquitin-fold domain of UBA5 to transfer UFM1 to the active site of UBA5, accepting UFM1 with a thioester bond with cystine 116 (Kumar et al., 2021). UFM1-specific ligase 1 (UFL1) acts as E3 to bind UFM1 at its topoisomerase transcription factor binding site and facilitates substrate transfer. UFL1, as the only identified E3 ligase, has been associated with all UFMylation targeting and has been suggested to act as an Ataxia-Telangiectasia-Mutated (ATM) kinase instigator (Qin et al., 2019). ATM kinase is a DNA damage transducer (Menolfi & Zha, 2020).



Figure 5 – UFMylation **A** Ubiquitin and UFM1 share similar tertiary structures though only 16% of their protein code is replicable (Protein structure diagram adapted from Banerjee, Kumar & Wiener, 2020)**B** The UFMylation cascade with non-canonical E1 (UBA5);E2 (UFC1) and E3 (UFL1) (Pathway illustration by Banerjee, Kumar & Wiener, 2020).

The full understanding of the role of UFMylation is limited. UFMylation has been identified as a PTM in relation to a range of intracellular processes though no isolated purpose defines it.

UFM1 has been shown to modify eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E) in protein translation; Ribosomal Protein L26 (RPL26) and DDRGK domain-containing protein 1 (DDRGK1) in endoplasmic reticulum (ER) homeostasis and MRE11 in DNA damage repair (Scavone *et al.*, 2023; Lu *et al.*, 2021; Sung *et al.*, 2007).

elF4E recognises and binds to 5' messenger ribonucleic acid (RNA) during the initiating of protein synthesis during protein translation (Xu *et al.*, 2010). UFMylation of elF4E has been identified to assemble the elF4F translation initiation complex which in turn interacts with cycle D1 in cell cycle signalling for cell stress response (Gak *et al.*, 2020). UFMylation of MRE11 has been recently recognised as a required process to assemble the MRN complex during ds-DNA break repair in homologous recombination and for the maintenance of telomere length to prevent premature aging of a cell (Lee *et al.*, 2021; Wang *et al.*, 2019). DDRGK1 is a cytoplasmic protein that has been related to mitochondrial metabolism (Liang *et al.*, 2020). DDRGK1 is theorised to facilitate ER-resident UFMylation via the relocation of the non-canonical E3 UFL1 (Liang *et al.*, 2020).

UFM1 has also been identified to modify histone H4 in the nucleus of the cell (Qin *et al.*, 2019). Histone H4 is essential in the stabilisation and compaction of chromatin within the nucleosome. Histone H4 aids in the stabilisation of replication forks during DNA damage repair to aid synthesis of a correct copy of the genome (Clouaire *et al.*, 2018). UFL1 UFMylates Histone H4 at lysine 31 where it then supports Histone H3's trimethylation to become transcriptionally active at a ds-DNA break (Qin *et al.*, 2019; Clouaire *et al.*, 2018). This, in turn, leads to the activation of ATM kinase and DNA damage repair. A positive feedback loop is formed due to Histone H4 also phosphorylating UFL1 (Qin *et al.*, 2019).

UFMylation has been associated with cellular development and tumour progression in relation to p53 and oestrogen-receptor- α , following CRISPR-depletion research in cell lines highlighting upregulated UFMylation activity (Yoo *et al.*, 2022; Liu *et al.*, 2020). Murine studies have demonstrated UFM1 as a crucial protein as depleted mutants were not viable, simultaneously the UFMylation pathway protein UFC1 is upregulated during skeletal muscle growth in post-natal development (Molendijk *et al*, 2022).

UFMylation holds an important role throughout cellular development and during intracellular processes but unlike its name's sake ubiquitin, there is no clear function that defines UFMylation.

Ubiquitination of a protein often highlights it for amplification or marks it for degradation (Hanna *et al.*, 2017; van Twest *et al.*, 2017). UFMylation's common theme has not yet been identified, though UFM1 seems to commonly instigate a protein pathway. As a

signal transductor UFM1 appears to encourages its UFMylated target activity, more aligned with phosphorylation, though there is no evidence to suggest UFMylation is a catalytic reaction (Ardito *et al.*, 2017; Lee & Yeffe, 2016).

1.2.4.1 RPL26

Ribosomal protein L26 (RPL26), a 17kDa cytoplasmic protein that has several lysine residues embedding it to the ER, is widely accepted as the primary target of UFMylation (Scavone *et al.*, 2023; Walczak *et al.*, 2019). RPL26 is believed to regulate the translation of tumour suppressor proteins p53 and p73 (a p53 family tumour suppressor) following DNA damage though its exact action is unknown (Scavone *et al.*, 2023; Hayashi *et al.*, 2019; Zhang *et al.*, 2016; Chen, Guo & Kastan, 2012; Takagi *et al.*, 2005).

Discovered the main target during mass spectroscopy analysis of as immunoprecipitants prepared with UFM1 antibody, RPL26 is associated with the quality control of proteins produced by the ER (Zhang et al., 2012). It is suggested that UFMylated RPL26 instigates ER-phagy as a response to cellular stress and in maintenance of the subsequent protein stalling (arrested peptides) (Scavone et al., 2023; Stephani et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). ER-phagy is the selective break down of ER sheets within the double phospholipid bilayer of a secondary lysosome during times of ER stress - which itself results in the unfolded protein response (Mochida & Nakatogawa, 2022; Yang et al., 2021). UFMylated RPL26 facilitates the lysosomal transport of ER-phagy via the association with UFL1 and the UFMylation support protein DDRGK1 (Savone et al., 2023; Walczak et al., 2019)

A frame shift mutation of the RPL26 coding gene has been associated with the development of the very rare inherited condition, Diamond-Blackfan anaemia (Gazda *et al.*, 2012). Diamond-Blackfan anaemia is characterised by macrocytic-normocytic red cell anaemia, congenital bone abnormalities and thumb malformations, similar to FA (Gadhiya & Wills, 2023; Engidaye, Melku & Enawgaw, 2019; Tsilou *et al.*, 2010). Differing from FA by only causing a low red blood cell count without impacting other blood components and no later malignant risks, Diamond-Blackfan anaemia only has 7 new cases per 1 million live births per year (Fatima *et al.*, 2021; Tsilou *et al.*, 2010).

1.3 Rationale



Figure 6 – **Preliminary Western Blot Data.** Western Blot run by Pierce et al. (Unpublished) with 30ug protein from the labelled cell lines of control and Fanconi Anaemia origin. β -Actin used as loading control. **A** Probed with antibody against UFM1 **B** Probed with antibody against RPL26.

This project follows the preliminary western blot data produced by Pierce *et al.* (Unpublished) (Figure 6). This data demonstrates that when probed with UFM1 antibody a UFM1 band present at 10kDa as expected but also a secondary protein band is present with approximate molecular weight of 27kDa within only the FA cell lines used and not the control/non-FA cell lines, Figure 6a. From examination of the literature and reported major targets of UFMylation Pierce *et al.*, (Unpublished) theorise this to be UFMylated RPL26 (Wang *et al.*, 2020; Walczak *et al.*, 2019). A second western blot, Figure 6b, produced with the same cell lines probed with an RPL26 antibody detected a band at 27kDa. This band was again only detected in the FA cell lines suggesting that the band at 27kDa band in the FA cell lines could indeed be UFMylated RPL26.

Preceding this project there has been no direct association between RPL26 and FA or FA and UFMylation. It is recognised, *in vitro* deficiency of RPL26 does cause Diamond-Blackfan anaemia that demonstrates some similar developmental and anaemia symptoms as FA. UFMylation activity has been identified with the HR protein MRE11 (Lu *et al.*, 2021; Wang *et al.*, 2019). MRE11 is associated with end resection during the FANC repair pathway (You & Bailis, 2010).

Preliminary data from a Mass Spectrometry based screen of EVI interacting proteins conducted by Meyer *et al.*, (Unpublished) suggested EVI1 interacts with UFM1.

2. Aims and Objectives

This project aimed to explore UFMylation and associated protein activity in FA cell lines compared to non-FA cell lines. We wanted to highlight UFMylation activity of RPL26 and identify other UFMylation targets within the FA and non-FA cell lines.

- 1. Confirm differences in UFMylation targets between FA derived and non-FA cell lines.
- 2. Determine the expression of the components of the UFMylation pathway in FA and non-FA cell lines.
- 3. Investigate the effect of MMC and irradiation on UFMylation in FA and non-FA cell lines.
- 4. Confirm whether the AML associated FA progression factor EVI1 is UFMylated.
- 5. Investigate the effects of UFMylation on EVI1 function.

3. Results

3.1 UFMylation activity in lymphocyte FA and non-FA cell lines

The following investigation utilised a FA cell line with a *FancP/SLX4* gene mutation, and the non-FA control cell line: MRN, used by Pierce *et al.*, kindly gifted by Dr Stephan Meyer of Manchester University.

Initial study sought to reproduce the preliminary western blot data by Pierce *et al.*, (Unpublished). The data (Figure 6) detailed the presence of an additional antibody binding band at 27kDa in only FA derived lymphocyte cell lines when probed with UFM1 and RPL26 antibodies: suggesting UFMylation of RPL26 takes place at higher levels in FA derived lymphocyte cell lines.

This study conducted western blots prepared with RIPA buffer lysates of the FA (CB15-0387) and non-FA (MRN) cell lines in non-treated, 24-hour treated with MMC or 24-hour treated with MMC's solvent carrier DMSO. The non-treated lysates probed with an UFM1 antibody, in Figure 7a, display a varied expression of the UFM1 protein at 10kDa, and the PTM band at approximately 27kDa between the MRN (left) and CB15-0387 (right) cell lines. The detected levels of UFM1 and the PTM bands did vary between the cell lines, which appeared to be dependent on drug exposure as all lysate samples were loaded with a consistent protein concentration (30ug). It is noted that despite this the protein binding across all lanes probed with UFM1 antibody, was consistently at 27kDa.

Simultaneously explored was the impact of 24-hour exposure to the ICL-inducing drug MMC or its solvent carrier DMSO, on UFM1 expression and UFMylation activity. There was a low detectable expression of the individual protein, UFM1, following 0.02% DMSO treatment within the non-FA cell line, MRN. However, Figure 7a did suggest the antibody was able to detect the conjugated UFMylation activity at 27kDa. Within the FA mutant cell line (CB15-0387) the detectable UFMylated protein was upregulated following exposure to both DMSO alone and MMC, prepared in DMSO. This in turn could support the idea that UFMylation activity is a cell stress response as DMSO is a strong solvent that can induce DNA damage (Dludla *et al.*, 2021). The relative detectable levels of UFMylation activity did not increase following additional exposure to MMC in either the FA or non-FA cell lines.

When western blots with the FA (CB15-0387) and non-FA (MRN) cellular lysates were probed with RPL26 antibody, Figure 7b, only very faint levels of UFMylated RPL26 were observed at 27kDa with an additional antibody binding observed at 90kDa. The antibody binding with the RPL26 antibody was consistent with the UFM1 antibody probed western blots in Figure 7a, strongly suggesting that the PTM activity agrees with the widely accepted primary target of UFMylation, the ER protein, RPL26. Exposure to 20nM MMC did result in lower of the observed levels of RPL26 in the FA mutant cell line (CB15-0387). This result was contrary to the expected detection of UFMylated RPL26 activity.

Analysis progressed to include alternative element of the UFMylation pathway: the proteins UBA5 and UFC1, the E1 activating protein and the E2 carrier protein for UFMylation respectively.

Probing of the FA and non-FA cell lines with an UBA5 antibody, Figure 7c, did not show any additional antibody binding activity and an overall consistent level of expression between the FA cell line and non-FA cell line. There was a slight down regulation of UBA5 following 20nM MMC exposure in the non-FA cell line that was not replicated in the FA cell line.

Probing with UFC1 antibody, Figure 7d, demonstrated a lower relative expression of UFC1 in the non-FA cell line and FA cell line following exposure to 0.02% DMSO. 20nM MMC exposure showed a relative higher expression of UFC1 in the non-FA cell line, this relative increase was not preserved in the FA cell line following the MMC treatment. In both cell lines additional UFC1 antibody binding was present as 29kDa and 39kDa which was not interfered with by drug treatment. This could be the UFMylation E2 interacting with a single unit or doublet of UFM1 to form its dimer structure (Kumar *et al.*, 2021).

The analysis of the lymphocyte non-FA and FA cell lines used here did not replicate the preliminary data by Pierce *et al.* but the expression of UFMylated RPL26 across the cell lines is consistent with wider literature. There were some differences of expression between the cell lines following drug treatment when probed with UBA5 and UFC1 antibodies, with additional binding observed. Though, the binding of the antibodies observed here could suggest that UFMylation is not a pathway that is affected by *Fanc* gene mutation.



Figure 7 – Lymphocyte UFMylation pathway analysis Western Blot. 12.5% gel with 30μ g of two lymphocyte cell lines: MRN (control/non-FA) and CB15-0387 (FancP/SLX4 mutant) in the presence or absence of the drugs detailed. β -Actin used as loading control. A Probed with UFM1 antibody. B Probed with RPL26 antibody. C Probed with UBA5 antibody. D Probed with UFC1 antibody.

3.2 FA cell line, CB15-0387, does not show increased sensitivity to increasing MMC concentration compared to non-FA cell line, MRN.

Following western blot analysis that demonstrated UFMylation activity in both the FA and non-FA cell lines that differed from Pierce *et al*'s preliminary data, a 0-150nM dose sensitivity assay with the ICL inducing drug MMC was conducted, Figure 8a. This explored the viability of the lymphocyte FA and non-FA cell lines. It was predicted that the FA mutations would have an increased sensitivity to MMC exposure compared to non-FA cell lines due to FA's impaired ability to repair ICL associated DNA damage.

Incubated over 72-hours with a 3-hour WST-1 reagent incubation (Supplementary Figure 1) the MMC sensitivity assays demonstrated a generalised sensitivity to increasing MMC dose. Differing from the expected results, the drug dose assays demonstrated no significant difference between the FA cell line (CB15-0387, yellow) and the non-FA cell line (MRN, green) (Figure 8a). The undifferentiable sensitivity between the cell lines following MMC exposure was independent of their growth abilities with in the 96-well plate. Figure 8b details the average absorbance levels of the internal growth control which utilised a serial dilution and was present during every assay. It demonstrates the 5x10⁵ cells/ml seeding density of the assay was within the mid-logarithmic growth required for consistent, healthy cell growth that avoids additional cell stress factors associated with over-confluency (Galluzzi, Yamazaki & Kroemer, 2018; Halliwell, 2003).



Figure 8 – Undifferentiable MMC sensitivity between cell lines. 72-hour incubation with 3 hour WST-1 reagent exposure. A Average relative percentage viability (n=5) with increasing MMC treatment (0nM-150nM) of two lymphocyte cell lines (MRN - non-FA; CB15-0387 – FancP/SLX4 mutant) following seeding density of $5x10^5$ cells/ml. B Average absorbance (n=5) of internal cell growth control (untreated). Error bars for both graphs are representative of standard deviations. Statistical testing with Student T Test demonstrated no statistical significance.

3.3 FancD2 Status Queried Integrity of Lymphocyte Cell Lines



Figure 9 – **FancD2 Status Queried Integrity of Lymphocyte Cell Line.** 6% Western Blot prepared with 30µg two lymphocyte cell lines: MRN (control/non-FA) and CB15-0387 (FancP/SLX4 mutant) (n=2). Probed with FancD2 antibody, β -Actin used as loading control.

In response to the undifferentiable MMC sensitivity levels of the lymphocyte FA and non-FA cell lines, the *FancD2* status of the cell lines was assessed. FANCD2 is a crucial step within compilation of the FA pathway for the recruitment of down-stream effector complexes that lead to NER and HR taking place. FANCD2 was expected to be have a strong presence in the MRN control cell line and a slight presence in CB15-0387. This is due to the CB15-0387 cell line's *FANCP/SLX4* mutation. FANCP/SLX4 is the subsequent recruitment step of ID2 complex formation and FANCD2 ubiquitination (Cybulski & Howlett, 2011). FANCP's UBZ interacts with ubiquitinated FANCD2 for efficient recruitment of nucleases for NER (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2011). Levels of FANCD2 recruitment has been directly associated with FANCP/SLX4 presence in the assessment of chromosome bridge formation associated with recombination repair suggesting that their recruitment is not mutually exclusive (Sarbajna, Davies and West, 2014).

Figure 9, a western blot probed with FANCD2 antibody, suggested that there was no detectable FANCD2 in the MRN cell line. The expected detection of intact FANCD2 within the CB15-0387 cell line was observed. It is recognised that due to testing the preceding FA pathway step, the mutant status of the CB15-0387 was not explicitly confirmed.

As this point in the investigation, post translational UFMylation activity suggested to be UFMylated RPL26, had been observed in both the MRN and CB15-0387 cell lines with drug dose response assays demonstrating undifferentiable levels of sensitivity to MMC. The divergent data from the preliminary western blot (Pierce *et al.*, Unpublished) (Figure 6) and expected MMC sensitivity of an FA cell line, in combination with an

undetectable level of FANCD2 in the MRN cell line, cumulated to suggest that a mutation may have taken place. If a mutation were to have taken place in the MRN cell line it could have caused the cell line to behave as though it contained a FA mutation. It is also acknowledged that the mutant status of the FA cell line was not confirmed and so it is also a possibility that CB15-0387 could have experienced a reversion. There was consideration of contamination of the MRN cell line via human error but retrospective analysis of early western blot data demonstrated UFMylation activity in both the MRN and CB15-0387 (*FancP/SLX4* mutant) cell lines so an earlier passage of the cell lines would not have rectified the issue of FA behaviour.

No other FA or non-FA lymphocyte cell lines utilised by Pierce *et al.*, (Unpublished) were available at the time of this project so alternative cell lines were acquired. No further investigation was conducted to explore definitively the mutant status of the lymphocyte cell lines. Investigations were adapted for the use of SV40-transformed FA fibroblast cell line with FancD2 mutant and a retroviral FancD2 transgene PD20 and PD20 RV:D2 respectively (Jakobs *et al.*, 1996).

3.4 FancD2 Status of Fibroblast FA and non-FA Cell Lines Confirmed



Figure 10 – FancD2 Status of Fibroblast FA and Non-FA Cell Lines Confirmed. 6% Western Blot prepared with 30 μ g SV40-transformed FA fibroblast cell lines: PD20 (FancD2 - mutant) and PD20 RV:D2 (FancD2 - plus RetroViral FANCD2 transgene). Probed with FancD2 antibody, β -Actin used as loading control.

Preceding the use of the SV40-transformed FA fibroblast cell lines PD20 (*FancD2 -/-*) and PD20 RV:D2 (*FancD2 -/-* plus RetroViral *FancD2* transgene) for UFMylation investigation, the FANCD2 expression was investigated to confirm its expected status. As reported the PD20 cell line had no detectable presence of FANCD2 and the PD20:RVD2 had a strong FANCD2 expression (Figure 10).

3.5 Significant MMC Sensitivity Difference Between Fibroblast FancD2 mutant and intact cell lines

The MMC sensitivity of the fibroblast cell lines was assessed to demonstrate the sensitivity of the FA mutant cell line to the ICL inducing effects of MMC. The failed



Figure 11 - **MMC sensitivity of FA cell line A** Average relative percentage viability (n=3) 72 hour incubation with increasing MMC treatment (0nM-150nM) of two fibroblast cell lines (PD20 (FancD2 -/- and PD20 RV:D2 FancD2 -/- plus RetroViral FancD2 transgene) 3-hour WST-1 reagent exposure. Error bars are representative of standard deviations. Statistical significance determined using a Student T-Test.

induction of ICL-induced DNA repair by the FA pathway due to FANC mutation leads to increased levels of apoptosis following exposure to the drug MMC. The proliferation MMC dose assay for the fibroblast cell lines was seeded at 4x10⁴ cells/ml and follow the same conditions as the lymphocyte experiments (Supplementary Figure 2). Assessed using a 0-150nM dose range, the PD20 (*FancD2* mutant, orange) cell line showed significant sensitivity to MMC treatment compared to the PD20 RV:D2 (control, blue) cell line, Figure 11.

3.6 UFMylation Cascade Facilitators in Fibroblast FA

The initial aim of this study was to reproduce the preliminary data produced by Pierce *et al.*, (Unpublished). Following confirmation of their appropriate mutation and MMC sensitivity status, the fibroblasts were used to investigate the UFMylation activity in FA and non-FA cell lines. Figure 12 demonstrates faint evidence of an additional binding presence of UFM1 antibody in both the FA mutant and transgene corrected cell lines (Figure 12a), differing from Pierce *et al*'s data (Figure 6). However, we did not observe any further binding when probed with RPL26 antibody (Figure 12b), inconsistent with both the preliminary data and the lymphocyte studies conducted here. Figure 13 depicts western blots prepared with FA and non-FA fibroblast cell lines in the presence of the ICL inducing 20nM MMC drug or its solvent carrier 0.02% DMSO treatment



Figure 12 – **Fibroblast FA UFMylation Activity.** 12.5% Western Blot prepared with $30\mu g$ SV40-transformed FA fibroblast cell lines: PD20 (FancD2 - mutant) and PD20 RV:D2 (FancD2 - plus RetroViral FANCD2 transgene. β -Actin used as loading control. **A** Probed with UFM1 antibody. **B** Probed with RPL26 antibody.

incubated for the time indicated, probed with the UFMylation cascade proteins. When probed with UFM1 antibody, Figure 13a, these lysates suggested that the further binding of the antibody to the PTM of RPL26 was only present in the PD20:RVD2 (*FancD2* ^{-/-} plus RetroViral *FancD2* transgene) cell line and scarcely in the PD20

(*FancD2* ^{-/-}) which differs from Figure 12's untreated samples. This suggests there is variation in UFMylation activity though what this is dependent on is not abundantly clear. When probed with RPL26 there was no detectable presence of a UFMylated band in either cell line regardless of drug treatment, Figure 13b.

Though neither Figure 12b or Figure 13b, both probed with RPL26 antibodies, demonstrated an antibody band at 27kDa to suggest UFMylated RPL26 the activity varied between the cell lines between Figure 12a and Figure 13a. The untreated lysates in Figure 12a demonstrate a 27kDa band in both cell lines, albeit a faint detection, that is not replicated in the FancD2 mutant PD20 cell line in Figure 13a. Practically, the lysate preparation process between the lymphocyte and fibroblast cell lines only differed in the trypsinisation step of the fibroblast cell lines.



Figure 13 – **MMC/DMSO Treated Fibroblast UFMylation pathway activity.** 12.5% Western Blot prepared with 30µg two lymphocyte cell lines: SV40-transformed FA fibroblast cell lines: PD20 (FancD2 - mutant) and PD20 RV:D2 (FancD2 - plus RetroViral FANCD2 transgene in the presence or absence of the drugs detailed. β -Actin used as loading control. Probed with antibodies against **A** UFM1. **B** RPL26. **C** UBA5. **D** UFC1.

The UFMylation cascade protein UBA5 showed a consistent expression between the fibroblast FA mutant and retrovirally corrected cell lines, Figure 13c. The E2 UFC1 had some variation in its expression between the PD20:RVD2 and PD20 cell lines but there
was no further antibody binding (Figure 13d). The variation observed was not able to be confirmed and further investigation would be required to confirm any differences in expression.

3.7 Preliminary Further Study

3.7.1 Cell Growth Density Impacts UFMylation Target

The varied detectable presence of UFMylation presented by the western blots probed with UFM1 and RPL26 antibodies within this study contrasts with the accepted target activity of UFMylation in literature (Walczak *et al.*, 2019).

In an attempt to address these inconsistencies, any differences surrounding the cell lysate preparations and storage, as well as the western blot procedure were reviewed. Though the probing concentrations of the antibodies and western blot preparation was conducted consistently, discrepancy was found between the lymphocyte and fibroblast cell pellet preparation densities of the lysates utilised during western blot analysis (Supplementary Figure 3). This could have had an effect on cell cycle stage and the levels of replication stress within the cell populations. Though all the cell lines used (MRN; CB15-0387; PD20; PD20 RV:D2) had been prepared and theoretically maintained in logarithmic growth, there was a variety of growth stages in the suspension (lymphocyte) and adherent (fibroblast) cell lines. Cell cultures should be maintained in a logarithmic growth state to maintain the continual presence of space and nutrients for all growing cells – if cells become confluent then limited space to grow could result in cell stress and promotion of mutagenic responses (Fulda et al., 2010). Therefore, the variety of growth stage of the cell lines when cells were harvested for western blot analysis could have influenced cell stress response proteins such as RPL26.

This cell stress/density theory was explored using the adherent fibroblast cell lines. The cell culture growth flasks were seeded at mid log-phase, transition phase and stationary phase concentrations: 4x10⁴ cells/ml; 8x10⁴ cells/ml and 1x10⁵ cells/ml respectively and incubated for 72-hours before harvest. Seeding concentrations were extracted from the cell growth curve produced preceding the fibroblast 96-well plate cell growth assay (Supplementary Figure 2).

At harvest, the cell flasks were observed to be 90% confluent, 100% confluent and an overgrown, respectively. These cells were processed and run on a western blot on the



Figure 14 – **Cell Pellet Density UFM1 Test.** 12.5% Western Blot with 30μ g SV40-transformed FA fibroblast cell lines: PD20 (FancD2 -mutant) and PD20 RV:D2 (FancD2 - plus RetroViral FANCD2 transgene) Lysates prepared at : $4x10^4$ cells/ml; $8x10^4$ cells/ml and $1x10^5$ cells/ml respectively then harvested at the described confluency (90%; 100%; Overgrown respectively) following 72 hour incubation to test cell density impact on protein presence. Probed with UFM1 antibody, β -Actin used as loading control.



Figure 15 – **Cell Pellet Density RPL26 Test.** 12.5% Western Blot with 30μ g SV40-transformed FA fibroblast cell lines: PD20 (FancD2 - mutant) and PD20 RV:D2 (FancD2 - plus RetroViral FANCD2 transgene) Lysates prepared at : $4x10^4$ cells/ml; $8x10^4$ cells/ml and $1x10^5$ cells/ml respectively then harvested at the described confluency (90%; 100%; Overgrown respectively) following 72 hour incubation to test cell density impact on protein presence. Probed with RPL26 antibody following one freeze/thaw instance, β -Actin used as loading control.



Figure 16 – **Cell Pellet Density RPL26 Repeat.** 12.5% Western Blot with 30µg SV40-transformed FA fibroblast cell lines: PD20 (FancD2 -^{-/-}mutant) and PD20 RV:D2 (FancD2 -^{-/-} plus RetroViral FANCD2 transgene) Lysates prepared at : $4x10^4$ cells/ml; $8x10^4$ cells/ml and $1x10^5$ cells/ml respectively then harvested at the described confluency (90%; 100%; Overgrown respectively) following 72 hour incubation to test cell density impact on protein presence. Probed with RPL26 antibody following two freeze/thaw instance, β -Actin used as loading control.

same day without freezing, Figure 14. Interestingly, a secondary UFM1 band at 27kDa is only present in the 100% confluent lysate (set up at 8x10⁴ cell/ml, harvested at 100% confluency) which following 72-hours incubation within the cell growth analysis (Supplementary Figure 3) suggests the cell are in a transitionary growth phase from logarithmic to lag (Jaishankar & Srivastava, 2017). This stage could introduce cellular stress factors due to reduced nutrient availability (Gameiro & Struhl, 2018). Time did not allow for explicit analysis of cell cycle status or measurement of oxidative stress markers (Filomeni, De Zio & Cecconi, 2014).

A RPL26 probed western blot, produced with the same lysates following one freeze/thaw cycle, Figure 15, suggests there are secondary and tertiary RPL26 presence in all cell density lysates that had not previously been observed in this study with fibroblast cell lines. The lysates were freeze-thawed to investigate the effect of -20° C storage on protein integrity (Wöll & Hubbuch, 2020). A western blot prepared

with the cell density lysates following two freeze/thaw cycles post lysis, Figure 16, did not demonstrate the additional antibody binding bands that previously demonstrated in Figure 15. This suggests that the PTM of RPL26 breaks down following two freezethaw cycles however, this was only tested in one repeat and so further investigation is required.

3.7.2 Lower NaCl Concentration for More Efficient RPL26 Immunoprecipitation Given the reported association of UFM1 and RPL26 in the literature, immunoprecipitation (IP) studies were started to analyse their interaction in the FA and non-FA cell lines.

Figure 17 demonstrates an IgG isolate heavy and light chain presence following an RPL26 isolate prepared with an 200nM NaCl IP buffer. The high presence of unbound RPL26 in both the FA and the retrovirally corrected cell lines following western blot probing with RPL26, suggested that there was limited protein isolated. An alternative IP lysate with a lower NaCl concentration (50mM), to reduce the destabilisation of protein interactions during lysing (Logisz & Hovis., 2005), was prepared and western blot analysis conducted with the new lysates, Figure 18. The lower NaCl concentration lysis buffer yield a more successful RPL26 isolate though some unbound RPL26 is still present. Due to time restraints the reduced NaCl lysate RPL26 IP samples were not probed with a UFM1 antibody. This would have demonstrated whether, within these lysates, RPL26 is modified by UFM1 as the literature suggests.

Preliminary IP investigation began into the potential interaction of UFM1 with poor AML prognostic factor EVI1. EVI1 has been shown to be upregulated in individuals with FA increasing their risk of poor prognostic AML (Meyer *et al.*, 2007). The EVI1 IP lysates prepared in 200mM IP buffer did suggest the successful isolation of EVI1, Figure 19. Interestingly, EVI1 was not observed in the input lysate despite adjusting loading volumes to maintain equivalent concentrations of protein, though this could be associated with cell line immortalisation techniques. Due to time constraints, probing with UFM1 antibodies was not able to be conducted with these lysates.



Figure 17 – **RPL26 IP with 200mM NaCI IP buffer.** 12.5% RPL26 Immunoprecipitation (IP) Western Blot prepared with SV40-transformed FA fibroblast cell lines prepared in 200nM NaCI IP lysis buffer. Loaded with 30µg or equivalent of input lysates, unbound supernatant, wash and RPL26 isolate **A** PD20 RV:D2 (FancD2^{-/-} plus RetroViral FANCD2 transgene) and **B** PD20 (FancD2^{-/-} mutant).



Figure 18 - **RPL26 IP with 50mM NaCI IP buffer** 12.5% RPL26 Immunoprecipitation (IP) Western Blot prepared with SV40-transformed FA fibroblast cell lines prepared in 50nM NaCI IP lysis buffer. Loaded with 30µg or equivalent of input lysates, unbound supernatant, wash and RPL26 isolate **A** PD20 RV:D2 (FancD2 ^{-/-} plus RetroViral FANCD2 transgene) and **B** PD20 (FancD2 ^{-/-}mutant).



Figure 19 – **EVI1 IP with 200mM NaCI IP buffer** 7.5% EVI1 Immunoprecipitation (IP) Western Blot prepared with SV40-transformed FA fibroblast cell lines prepared in 200nM NaCI IP lysis buffer. Loaded with 30µg or equivalent of input lysates, unbound supernatant, wash and EVI1 isolate **A** PD20 RV:D2 (FancD2 ^{-/-} plus RetroViral FANCD2 transgene) and **B** PD20 (FancD2 ^{-/-} mutant).

4. Discussion

Preliminary western blot data, by Pierce *et al.* (Unpublished) prepared several lymphocyte FA mutant and non-FA cell lines to explore UFM1 presence and any potential UFMylation activity. They observed UFMylation activity restricted to the FA mutant cell line in line at 27kDa, which was consistent with UFMylated RPL26. This project initially aimed to reproduce Pierce *et al*'s data and extend the understanding around the implication of UFMylation activity related to DNA damaging agents such as MMC or radiation.

The accepted literature suggests that RPL26 is the primary target of UFMylation and responds to cellular and ER stress to implement ER-phagy (Walczak *et al.*, 2019). UFMylation activity is highly conserved in eukaryotic cells and has been presented in Human Embryonic Kidney (HEK) 293T cell line; human osteosarcoma U2OS; epithelial-like human breast cancer MDA-MB-231 cell line; pancreatic (PANC or PaCa) cancer cell lines PANC-1 and Mia PaCa-2 (Jiang *et al.*, 2023; Zhao *et al.*, 2020; Qin *et al.*, 2019). UFMylation has also been demonstrated to be essential for the differentiation of lymphoid resident antibody-secreting B cells and the survival of haematopoietic stem cells (Millrine *et al.*, 2023; Lee *et al.*, 2021). Pierce *et al.*, (Unpublished) suggested that RPL26 UFMylation activity takes place at a higher level in FA-mutant cells, contrasting considerably with the accepted literature. This study was able to demonstrate UFMylation activity believed to be UFMylated RPL26 across both FA-mutant and non-FA cell lines.

The behaviour of the FA mutant and non-FA mutant cell lines witnessed within this study was consistent with accepted UFMylation activity however, the contrast of the lymphocyte cell lines with the activity of the preliminary data of Pierce *et al.*, lead to the investigation of their FANCD2 status. Western blot analysis with aFANCD2 antibody prompted the suggestion that a mutation had potentially taken place in the lymphocyte "non-FA-mutant" cell line MRN. A presence of FANCD2 in the MRN cell line was not detected nor was a significant differential sensitivity to the DNA damaging agent MMC demonstrated. Resistance to MMC would be expected of a non-FA cell line as it retains the capacity to compile the FA pathway and repair ICL induced ds-DNA damage (Hammarsten et al., 2021). There was no alternative lymphocyte non-FA mutant cell line available at the time of the study so investigations were altered for

a SV40-fibroblast cell line. Nonetheless, the data produced by the lymphocyte FA mutant, CB15-0387, should not be discarded. The *FancP/SLX4* mutant demonstrated an appropriate MMC sensitivity as expected of an FA cell line. Kim *et al.* (2013) demonstrates within their 8-day MMC incubation assay, a SLX4- Δ SAP cell line that exhibits a similar 33% survival as CB15-03087 (*FancP/SLX4* mutant) when treated with 50nM MMC. The CB15-0387 cell line replicated the UFMylation activity suggested by Pierce et *al.*, (Unpublished) to be UFMylated RPL26, with additional suggestion that treatment with DMSO and MMC impacts the UFMylation activity to contrasting effects.

In some instances, an increased expression of UFMylated protein following DMSO exposure was observed in the FA lymphocyte cell line probed with UFM1 antibody. This add to the speculation that UFMylation of RPL26 is a cell stress response as DMSO is a strong aprotic solvent that enhances solubility of the transmembrane (Papich, 2016). DMSO is known to induce oxidative stress within cellular experimentation models (Dludla *et al.*, 2021). Increased UFMylation following DMSO treatment could have suggested a mechanism where UFM1 preferentially binds to a protein and therefore increases UFMylation activity during times of cellular stress. However, the DMSO effects were not replicated in the fibroblast cell lines tested when they were probed with UFM1 antibody or other UFMylation pathway components. Interestingly, the detectable levels of UFMylation activity when probed with UFM1 antibody did not increase following additional exposure to MMC dissolved in DMSO compared to the FA cell line's respective DMSO treatment. This may reflect the already stressed cellular environment within FA cell line due to its increased susceptibility to ICL DNA damage, especially following MMC exposure (Francies *et al.*, 2018).

Noticeably the UFMylation activity was only demonstrated when western blots were probed with an UFM1 antibody (and not the RPL26 antibody) in the CB15-3087 (*FancP/SLX4* mutant) and fibroblast cell lines (RVD2:PD20 - retrovirally corrected *FancD2* mutant and PD20 - *FancD2* mutant). Antibody binding that would highlight PTM activity of RPL26 was not readily observed when western blots were probed with an RPL26 antibody. However, UFM1 probed western blot observations of RPL26-UFMylation have been confirmed by other researchers with mass spectrometry analysis (Wang *et al.*, 2020). Wang *et al.* (2020) suggests that RPL26 can be UFMylated at two lysine residues leading to several antibody bands when a western

blot is probed with UFM1 antibody. One could speculate that the RPL26 antibody utilised within this study has a binding site that is limited following UFMylation activity or that the RPL26 protein changes its tertiary structure following UFMylation, obscuring the RPL26 antibody binding site.

There is some evidence to suggest that trypsinisation of adherent cells from a growth flask leads to the removal of membrane proteins. Huang *et al.* (2010) suggests that both cell surface and mitochondrial surface proteins are destroyed by trypsinisation whilst proteins associated with cell apoptosis are up regulated. Within this study the harvested fibroblast cells were washed several times in PBS following trypsinisation and a neutralisation with FBS. The cell pellets were lysed in RIPA buffer or IP buffer immediately following washing which differed from the 2-hour rest period allowed for both lymphocyte and fibroblast cells following seeding in a 96-well plate before MMC drug treatment was applied. Literature suggests that cellular morphology and protein activity recovers 24-48 hours after trypsin exposure (Sharma *et al.*, 2019; Huang *et al.*, 2010). It would be interesting to explore the impact of a rest and recovery period preceding lysing on UFMylation activity in fibroblast cells following trypsinisation.

Alternatively, the antibody binding ability could be affected by freeze-thaw maintenance of cell lysates or the antibody itself as it is known to lead to protein degradation (Wöll & Hubbuch, 2020). This is widely understood in the storage and use of protein lysate samples but the implied limitations within PTM of protein lysates had not previously been explored by Pierce *et al.* (Unpublished) in their investigation of FA UFMylation activity. However, there is evidence to suggest that thioester bonds, such that UFM1 forms with its targets, are not denatured in reducing conditions during lysate preparation for western blot analysis and can be visualised (Kumar *et al.* 2021; Holm *et al.*, 2012). PTM of RPL26 with UFM1 is associated with a covalent bonding at lysine residues Lys132 and Lys134 which also does not disassociate during the boiling process (Scavone *et al.*, 2023; Walczak *et al.*, 2019).

The consideration of freeze-thaw maintenance and the differentiation within preceding western blots lead to cell density testing being conducted in this study. Cell density testing was utilised to explore the impact of cellular stress on the induction of UFMylation activity. RPL26 is theorised to be a cell stress response protein promoting autophagy of the ER following cellular stress and therefore the battle for nutrients

within a confluent cell flask could encourage autophagy process (Scavone et al., 2023; Hu et al., 2020). There was some evidence within the cell density testing to suggest that confluency of growing cells did have an impact on UFMylation activity when probed with an UFM1 antibody. But subsequent testing with RPL26 antibody on the same lysates did not demonstrate this discrepancy. In some instances, overgrowth of cells within a growth flask can result in cell cycle stalling due to nutrient deprivation (Chen et al., 2012). This was not explicitly explored within this study but the use of Flow Activated Cell Sorting (FACS) could extend the cellular density investigation. FACS would allow researchers to quantify the relative stages of cell cycle in flasks of different cell densities (and therefore different observed levels of UFMylated RPL26) to investigate whether UFMylation of RPL26 is a cell stage dependent mechanism (Yiangou et al., 2019; Liao et al., 2016). Review of the UFMylation target literature and the understood mechanisms of the UFMylation pathway cumulates to suggest that UFM1 acts as a signal transducer for reactions like a PTM with a phosphate group. This differs from the role of mono- or poly- addition of UFM1's namesake ubiquitin, which highlights a protein for amplification or degradation (Komastu et al., 2004).

Continuation of the IP analysis begun within this study would need to consider the results of aforementioned tests to accurately reflect the UFMylation activity occurring. An alternative RPL26 antibody in further investigations might strengthen western blot analysis and IP isolation. IP methods began to isolate the AML prognostic marker EVI1. EVI1 is a zinc finger transcription factor associated with high-risk poor prognosis in both FA and non-FA derived AML (Paredes *et al.*, 2020; Dutta *et al.*, 2013). EVI1 is not a confirmed target of UFMylation but IP analysis could highlight an interaction.

5. Conclusion

This project successfully demonstrated UFMylation and associated protein activity with the overall elements disagreeing with Pierce *et al*'s unpublished data which suggested that UFMylation of RPL26 takes place only in FA cell lines. This study conducted an analysis of the UFMylation literature which cumulated to suggest that the PTM is a signal transducer involved in many intracellular pathways and is reportedly preserved across eukaryotic cell lines. This analysis contributed to wider considerations within the western blot interpretation of this study.

This thesis endeavoured to investigate the effect of induced cellular stress had on UFMylation activity. We aimed to study the effect of several cell stress inducers including irradiation on activity but we only utilised the ICL inducing drug MMC. We treated cell cultures for drug dose sensitivity testing and cell growth flasks for western blot analysis with MMC or its carrier DMSO, though neither treatment demonstrated a significant impact on UFMylation activity within this study. However, this posed the opportunity to suggest that UFMylation does not interact or impact the FA pathway. Drawing from the suggestion that UFMylation is a signal transducer with additional understanding of the isolated reaction pathways in each mitotic stage, the project progressed to consider the growth conditions of the cells utilised and the reflective cell stress caused by limited growth resources in confluent conditions that could contribute to the UFMylation of RPL26. The data did demonstrate that confluency of the cell growth flask impacts the detected level of UFMylation activity with RPL26. Initial study was also commenced to identify whether EVI1 is a target of UFMylation but further refinement of the isolation lysis would be required for continued investigation.

This study contributed to the understanding of UFMylation within a FA mechanism that had not previously been conducted. We began to demonstrate that UFMylation does not act independently within an FA system but further study with alternative FA mutant cell lines would strengthen the understanding of UFMylation interaction in different areas of the FA pathway. The importance of precision within cell culture management and lysate preparation was highlighted within the UFMylation activity investigation as different growth phrases provide a different combination of PTM that can lead to unique results.

6. Future Work

Continued investigation into the role of UFM1 addition to a protein is required. Here, UFMylation is theorised to have a role as a signal transducer but this is yet to be investigated explicitly. Analysis of the influence of cellular stage, intracellular stress, and induced stress, including irradiation, on UFMylation could aid in the answer of these requirements. RPL26 UFMylation would benefit from a detailed study of differential levels throughout the cell cycle. Additionally, bioinformatic rendering of RPL26 tertiary structure rearrangement following PTM could refine understanding of its own role and that of UFMylation.

7. Methodology

7.1 Cell Culture

Lymphocyte cells were grown in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 medium supplemented with 20% foetal bovine serum (FBS) (Hyclone) and 4mM L-Glutamine (Gluta-MAX) (Thermo Fisher). The cells were sub-cultured when at $1x10^6$ cells/ml in suspension down to $2x10^5$ cells/ml. All cell groups were incubated at 37.5° C in humidified 5% CO₂.

PD20 (FANCD2-/-); PD20 RV:D2 (FANCD2-/- plus retrovirally corrected FANCD2 transgene) fibroblast cell lines were grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 15% FBS (Hyclone or Gibco). Once 80-95% confluent the adhered cells were washed in Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) (Sigma-Aldrich) sufficient volume 0.25% then а minimum of Trypsin Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) (Gibco) was used to dissociate the adherent cells from the tissue culture flask and from each other. An equal volume, to the Trypsin-EDTA, of FBS was added to deactivate the protease activity of trypsin before splitting to 15-20% confluency to maintain logarithmic growth. Both cell lines were incubated at 37.5°C in humidified 5% CO₂.

7.2 Drug Treatment

Cell preparations treated with 20nM (100µM stock) mitomycin C (MMC) or equivalent dilution of Dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) (100% stock) (PanReac AppliChem) and incubated at 37.5°C in humidified 5% CO₂ for time indicated prior to collection. Fibroblast cell lines were subject to an additional step of trypsinisation and FBS neutralisation for collection. The pellets were centrifuged at 350g for 5 minutes and washed 3 times in PBS, during final wash the cell pellet was transferred to an Eppendorf. Following a final centrifugation step the PBS is removed and the pellet dried before storing at -20°C if required.

7.3 Cell Lysis

7.3.1 RIPA

Mid log phase cells were washed twice in PBS lysed in RIPA lysis buffer (RIPA buffer (50mM Tris-HCI; 150mM NaCI; 1% Sodium deoxycholate; 1% NP40; 0.1% SDS; 1mM EDTA); plus 10µL/mL Phosphatase inhibitors; 10µL/mL protease inhibitors; 10µL/mL Sodium Orthovanadate; 1.5µL Benzonase). Lymphocyte cells were lysed in 50µL RIPA

buffer per 1×10^6 cells. The fibroblast cell lines were treated the same and lysed in 25μ L RIPA buffer per 1×10^6 cells.

Cells were incubated on ice for 20 minutes followed by centrifugation at 24000g at 4°C for 10 minutes to pellet cell debris. The supernatant was harvested as cell lysates.

7.3.2 Immunoprecipitation

Mid log phase cells were washed twice in cold PBS and lysed in IP buffer (200mM NaCI; 50mM Tris; 1mM EDTA; 1% Triton-X100; 2mM MgCl₂) with 10 μ L/mL Phosphatase inhibitors; 10 μ L/mL protease inhibitors; 1.5 μ L Benzonase. Fibroblast cell lines were lysed with 500 μ L lysis buffer per 1x10⁷ cells. An alternative IP buffer was prepared for RPL26 lysate isolate with 50mM NaCI.

Cells were incubated 4°C for 30 minutes with rotation, then sonicated 3x5 seconds in a water bath with another 4°C incubation for 30 minutes. The lysed cells were then centrifugated at 24000g for 10 minutes at 4°C to pellet cell debris. The supernatant was harvested as cell lysates.

7.4 Protein Assay

Serial dilution of 0.25mg/ml Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) prepared as standards with 0; 0.5; 1.0; 1.5; 2.0; 2.5; 3.0; 3.5µg in 80µl per well. Each standard was plated in triplicate on a 96 well plate. Lysate samples were individually prepared at 1/10 and 1/20 dilutions and plated in triplicate on the 96 well plate. 20µl BioRad Protein Dye was added and absorbance measured immediately at 570nM. Protein concentrations were read with reference to the standard curve, lysate dilutions were prepared to ensure sample concentrations were on the standard curve.

7.5 Cell Dilution Proliferation Assay

Appropriate cell concentration and WST-1 incubation time was established using a multi-day cell dilution proliferation assay. Flat bottom, non-pyrogenic polystyrene treated, sterile tissue culture 96-well plates (CoStar Corning Incorporated) were prepared with 100µL of the appropriate cell dilutions: $5x10^3$ cells/ml; $7.5x10^3$ cells/ml; $1x10^4$ cells/ml; $2.5x10^4$ cells/ml; $5x10^4$ cells/ml; $7.5x10^4$ cells/ml; $1x10^5$ cells/ml. Separate plates were prepared for 24; 48; 72 hours and cumulative absorbance measured at a wavelength of 450nM was taken hourly, over 4 hours, following 10µL/well administration of WST-1 reagent on the appropriate day.

7.6 MMC Drug Dose Proliferation Assay – WST-1

The 96-well plates were seeded with 100μ L of $5x10^4$ cell/ml and $4x10^4$ cells/ml suitable to the cell lines and left to settle for up to two hours before treatment with 1μ L of 0nM-150nM concentration of Mitomycin C (MMC), prepared in a dilution series with DMSO (PanReac AppliChem) – ensuring the DMSO concentration did not exceed 1%. The treated 96-well plates were incubated for 72-hours at 37.5°C in humidified 5% CO₂, later lymphocyte assays were incubated for 96-hours. The metabolic activity of the cells was assessed at 450nM following 3-hour incubation with WST-1 reagent. This assay was utilised to quantify proliferation and assess the sensitivity of cell lines to the MMC drug (Kang, Yoon & Choi., 2017).

7.7 Western Blot

Western blot techniques were used to analyse treated and non-treated cell lysates (lysed with RIPA buffer). 30µg of cell lysate were separated on 12.5%, 7.5% or 6% polyacrylamide separating gels, depending on investigative molecular weight, with a 5.5% stacking gel in a BioRad Mini PROTEAN Tetra System. Gels were run at 100V until the dye front was at the bottom of the gel in a 10% sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) running buffer. A Thermo Scientific[™] Spectra[™] Multicolor Broad Range Protein Ladder was used for comparative estimation of molecular weight of proteins and to monitor the progress of electrophoresis through the gel. The separated proteins were initially transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane in a 45-minute transfer in transfer buffer (10% methanol and 1x running buffer without SDS) at a constant 100V. When studying proteins below 100kDa transfer was achieved with transfer buffer with 1x Tris-Glycine running buffer without SDS and 20% methanol run for 60 minutes. When studying proteins above 100kDa, proteins were run on 6% separating gels with 5.5%

The nitrocellulose membranes were blocked in 3% milk powder dissolved in 1x Tris buffered saline (TBS) with 0.3% Polysorbate 20 (Tween/T) for at least 1 hour then the primary antibody, see Table 1 for details, was exposed in 1% milk powder dissolved in 0.3% TBS-T overnight. The following day the excess primary antibody was washed off the membrane in at least 3 wash cycles with 0.3% TBS-T and the secondary antibody, that had conjugated horseradish-peroxidase (HRP), see Table 1 for details, was prepared in 1% milk powder dissolved in 0.3% TBS-T and was allowed to incubate for

at least 1 hour. The excess secondary antibody was washed off the membrane in at least 3 wash cycles with 0.3% TBS-T. The membranes were then incubated in Enhanced Chemiluminescence Western Blotting Substrate (ECL) (1:1 Thermo Fisher) that reacts with the HRP bound to the secondary antibody on the membrane producing chemiluminescent reactions under UV and blue wavelengths captured by the ChemiDoc (BioRad) for up to 30 minutes.

After imaging the membranes were washed several times in TBS-T and exposed to HRP conjugated anti β -actin antibodies in 1% milk powder dissolved in 0.3% TBS-T for 1 hour. The membranes were washed again in 0.3% TBS-T and exposed to ECL and imaged for up to 3 minutes.

7.8 Immunoprecipitation

Cell lysates (IP lysis buffer unless stated) were adjusted with IP buffer to a concentration of 4mg/ml (2mg total protein in 500 μ L total) (30 μ L of sample stored as Sample 1 - Input) and were incubated with 2 μ g antibody overnight at 4°C under rotation. Antibody treated lysates had 100 μ L of protein A/G Sepharose beads (washed twice in PBS and once in IP lysis buffer) added and incubated at 4°C under rotation. After 4 hours the lysates were centrifugated at 1500g for 5 minutes (supernatant stored as Sample 2 - Unbound) and the antibody bound beads were washed in 500 μ L prechilled IP lysis buffer 3 times and incubated at 4°C under rotation over 15 minutes (each supernatant was collected as Samples 3, 4, 5 – Wash 1, 2, 3). The final pellet was resuspended in 100 μ L of SDS Laemmli's loading buffer (1M Tris-HCl pH6.8; SDS; Glycerol; mercapto-ethanol; bromoethanol blue (1% in ethanol); distilled H₂O) and incubate at 95°C for 5 minutes (Stored as Sample 6 - IP).

Samples 1, 2, 3, 6 of the IP lysates were analysed via Western Blot, run with 30µg of protein or equivalent and probed with appropriate antibodies.

Table 1 – Details of antibodies and their supplier information utilised in this study.

Antibody	Procedure	Company	Research Resource Identifiers	Dilution Factor
UFM1 (Rabbit)	WB (12.5% ProtoGel)	Abcam	AB_109305 Lot: 1001123-1 Lot: GR3396232-3	1/1000
UBA5 (Rabbit)	WB (12.5% ProtoGel)	Proteintech	12093-1-AP Lot:00045984	1/1500
UFC1 (Rabbit)	WB (12.5% ProtoGel)	Abcam	AB_189252 Lot: GR3288000-1	1/1000
UFL1 (Rabbit)	WB (7.5% ProtoGel)	ThermoFisher	303-456A	1/5000
RPL26 (Rabbit)	WB (12.5% ProtoGel)	Biotechne	NB100-2131 Lot: A1	1/2500
Anti Rabbit IgG, HRP Linked Whole Ab	WB	GE Healthcare	NA9340V	1/5000
FancD2 (Mouse)	WB (6% ProtoGel)	Santa Cruise Biotechnology	Sc-20022 Lot: E1222	1/2000
Anti Mouse IgG, HRP Linked Whole Ab	WB	GE Healthcare	NA931V Lot: 9715064	1/5000
MRE11 (Mouse)	WB (7.5% ProtoGel), IP	Abcam	AB214 Lot: GR3277747-5	1/1000
Cyclin E (Mouse)	WB (12.5% Protogel)	Santa Cruz	Sc-247 Lot: K2519	1/1000
Cyclin A (Mouse)	WB (12.5% Protogel)	Santa Cruz	Sc-271682 Lot: F1319	1/1000
Cyclin B (Mouse)	WB (12.5% Protogel)	Santa Cruz	Sc-166210 Lot: B0917	1/1000
β-Actin- peroxidase (Mouse)	WB	Sigma-Aldrich	A3854 Lot: 034M4830V	1/50,000

Bibliography

- Ali, R. A., Wuescher, L. M., & Worth, R. G. (2015). Platelets: essential components of the immune system. *Current Trends in Immunology*, *16*, 65. /pmc/articles/PMC5096834/
- Aliberti, S., Myers, J. A., Peyrani, P., Blasi, F., Menendez, R., Rossi, P., Cosentini, R., Lopardo, G., De Vedia, L., & Ramirez, J. A. (2009). The role of neutropenia on outcomes of cancer patients with community-acquired pneumonia. *European Respiratory Journal*, 33(1), 142–147. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00167707
- Alter, B. P. (2014). Fanconi anemia and the development of leukemia. Best Practice & Research. Clinical Haematology, 27(0), 214. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BEHA.2014.10.002
- Ardito, F., Giuliani, M., Perrone, D., Troiano, G., & Muzio, L. Lo. (2017). The crucial role of protein phosphorylation in cell signaling and its use as targeted therapy (Review). *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, *40*(2), 271.
 https://doi.org/10.3892/IJMM.2017.3036
- Banerjee, S., Kumar, M., & Wiener, R. (2020). Decrypting UFMylation: How Proteins Are Modified with UFM1. *Biomolecules 2020, Vol. 10, Page 1442, 10*(10), 1442. https://doi.org/10.3390/BIOM10101442
- Bhandari, J., Thada, P. K., & Puckett, Y. (2022). Fanconi Anemia. *StatPearls*. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK559133/
- Bhattacharyya, S., Yu, H., Mim, C., & Matouschek, A. (2014). Regulated protein turnover: snapshots of the proteasome in action. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 2014* 15:2, 15(2), 122–133. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3741
- Birdwell, C., Fiskus, W., Kadia, T. M., DiNardo, C. D., Mill, C. P., & Bhalla, K. N. (2021). EVI1 dysregulation: impact on biology and therapy of myeloid malignancies. *Blood Cancer Journal*, *11*(3), 64. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41408-021-00457-9
- Budzowska, M., Graham, T. G., Sobeck, A., Waga, S., & Walter, J. C. (2015). Regulation of the Rev1–pol ζ complex during bypass of a DNA interstrand cross-link. *The EMBO Journal*, *34*(14), 1971–1985. https://doi.org/10.15252/EMBJ.201490878

- Callis, J. (2014). The Ubiquitination Machinery of the Ubiquitin System. The Arabidopsis Book / American Society of Plant Biologists, 12, e0174. https://doi.org/10.1199/TAB.0174
- Castilla-Cortazar, I., de Ita, J. R., Aguirre, G. A., Castorena-Torres, F., Ortiz-Urbina, J., García-Magariño, M., de la Garza, R. G., Diaz Olachea, C., & Elizondo Leal, M. I. (2017). Fanconi Anemia and Laron Syndrome. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, 353(5), 425–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AMJMS.2017.02.001
- Ceccaldi, R., Parmar, K., Mouly, E., Delord, M., Kim, J. M., Regairaz, M., Pla, M., Vasquez, N., Zhang, Q. S., Pondarre, C., Peffault De Latour, R., Gluckman, E., Cavazzana-Calvo, M., Leblanc, T., Larghero, J., Grompe, M., Socié, G., D'Andrea, A. D., & Soulier, J. (2012). Bone marrow failure in Fanconi anemia is triggered by an exacerbated p53/p21 DNA damage response that impairs hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. *Cell Stem Cell*, *11*(1), 36. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2012.05.013
- Celen, A. B., & Sahin, U. (2020). Sumoylation on its 25th anniversary: mechanisms, pathology, and emerging concepts. *The FEBS Journal*, *287*(15), 3110–3140. https://doi.org/10.1111/FEBS.15319
- Chen, C. C., Avdievich, E., Zhang, Y., Zhang, Y., Wei, K., Lee, K., Edelmann, W., Jasin, M., & LaRocque, J. R. (2017). EXO1 suppresses double-strand break induced homologous recombination between diverged sequences in mammalian cells. *DNA Repair*, *57*, 98–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DNAREP.2017.07.003
- Chen, G., & Deng, X. (2018). Cell Synchronization by Double Thymidine Block. *Bio-Protocol*, *8*(17). https://doi.org/10.21769/BIOPROTOC.2994
- Chen, J., Guo, K., & Kastan, M. B. (2012). Interactions of Nucleolin and Ribosomal Protein L26 (RPL26) in Translational Control of Human p53 mRNA. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(20), 16467–16476. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M112.349274
- Clauson, C., Schärer, O. D., & Niedernhofer, L. (2013). Advances in Understanding the Complex Mechanisms of DNA Interstrand Cross-Link Repair. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, *5*(10). https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A012732

- Clouaire, T., Rocher, V., Lashgari, A., Arnould, C., Aguirrebengoa, M., Biernacka, A., Skrzypczak, M., Aymard, F., Fongang, B., Dojer, N., Iacovoni, J. S., Rowicka, M., Ginalski, K., Côté, J., & Legube, G. (2018). Comprehensive Mapping of Histone Modifications at DNA Double-Strand Breaks Deciphers Repair Pathway Chromatin Signatures. *Molecular Cell*, *72*(2), 250-262.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2018.08.020
- Coleman, K. E., & Huang, T. T. (2016). How SUMOylation Fine-Tunes the Fanconi Anemia DNA Repair Pathway. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *7*(APR), 61. https://doi.org/10.3389/FGENE.2016.00061
- Collis, S. J., Ciccia, A., Deans, A. J., Hořejší, Z., Martin, J. S., Maslen, S. L., Skehel, J. M., Elledge, S. J., West, S. C., & Boulton, S. J. (2008). FANCM and FAAP24
 Function in ATR-Mediated Checkpoint Signaling Independently of the Fanconi
 Anemia Core Complex. *Molecular Cell*, *32*(3), 313–324.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2008.10.014
- Cybulski, K. E., & Howlett, N. G. (2011). FANCP/SLX4: a Swiss army knife of DNA interstrand crosslink repair. *Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex.)*, *10*(11), 1757–1763. https://doi.org/10.4161/CC.10.11.15818
- Damgaard, R. B. (2021). The ubiquitin system: from cell signalling to disease biology and new therapeutic opportunities. *Cell Death & Differentiation 2021 28:2*, *28*(2), 423–426. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-020-00703-w
- De Rocco, D., Bottega, R., Cappelli, E., Cavani, S., Criscuolo, M., Nicchia, E., Corsolini, F., Greco, C., Borriello, A., Svahn, J., Pillon, M., Mecucci, C., Casazza, G., Verzegnassi, F., Cugno, C., Locasciulli, A., Farruggia, P., Longoni, D., Ramenghi, U., ... Savoia, A. (2014). Molecular analysis of Fanconi anemia: The experience of the bone marrow failure study group of the Italian Association of Pediatric Onco-Hematology. *Haematologica*, *99*(6), 1022–1031. https://doi.org/10.3324/HAEMATOL.2014.104224
- Deshpande, A. M., Ivanova, I. G., Raykov, V., Xue, Y., & Maringele, L. (2023). Polymerase Epsilon Is Required To Maintain Replicative Senescence. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1128/MCB.00144-10*, *31*(8), 1637–1645. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.00144-10

- Dludla, P. V., Nkambule, B. B., Mazibuko-Mbeje, S. E., Nyambuya, T. M., Silvestri, S., Orlando, P., Mxinwa, V., Louw, J., & Tiano, L. (2021). The impact of dimethyl sulfoxide on oxidative stress and cytotoxicity in various experimental models. *Toxicology: Oxidative Stress and Dietary Antioxidants*, 243–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819092-0.00025-X
- Du, W., Li, X., Wilson, A. F., & Pang, Q. (2018). A small molecule p53 activator attenuates Fanconi anemia leukemic stem cell proliferation. *Stem Cell Research and Therapy*, 9(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13287-018-0882-5/FIGURES/2
- Duan, G., & Walther, D. (2015). The Roles of Post-translational Modifications in the Context of Protein Interaction Networks. *PLoS Computational Biology*, *11*(2), 1004049. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PCBI.1004049
- Dufour, C., & Pierri, F. (2022). Modern management of Fanconi anemia. *Hematology*, 2022(1), 649–657. https://doi.org/10.1182/HEMATOLOGY.2022000393
- Dutta, P., Bui, T., Bauckman, K. A., Keyomarsi, K., Mills, G. B., & Nanjundan, M. (2013).
 EVI1 splice variants modulate functional responses in ovarian cancer cells.
 Molecular Oncology, 7(3), 647–668. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLONC.2013.02.008
- Ebens, C. L., MacMillan, M. L., & Wagner, J. E. (2017). Hematopoietic cell transplantation in Fanconi anemia: current evidence, challenges and recommendations. *Expert Review of Hematology*, *10*(1), 81–97. https://doi.org/10.1080/17474086.2016.1268048
- Engidaye, G., Melku, M., & Enawgaw, B. (2019). Diamond Blackfan Anemia: Genetics, Pathogenesis, Diagnosis and Treatment. *EJIFCC*, *30*(1), 67. /pmc/articles/PMC6416817/
- Faridounnia, M., Folkers, G. E., & Boelens, R. (2018). Function and Interactions of ERCC1-XPF in DNA Damage Response. *Molecules*, 23(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES23123205
- Fatima, J., Yaseen, S., Rafi, S., & Zafar, H. (2021). Incidence and Clinico Hematological pattern of Diamond Blackfan Anemia: 10 years experience in a single center. *Pediatric Hematology Oncology Journal*, 6(1), 32–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHOJ.2020.10.001

- Filomeni, G., De Zio, D., & Cecconi, F. (2014). Oxidative stress and autophagy: the clash between damage and metabolic needs. *Cell Death & Differentiation 2015 22:3*, 22(3), 377–388. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2014.150
- Francies, F. Z., Wainwright, R., Poole, J., De Leeneer, K., Coene, I., Wieme, G., Poirel, H.
 A., Brichard, B., Vermeulen, S., Vral, A., Slabbert, J., Claes, K., & Baeyens, A.
 (2018). Diagnosis of Fanconi Anaemia by ionising radiation- or mitomycin C-induced micronuclei. *DNA Repair*, *61*, 17–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DNAREP.2017.11.001
- Gadhiya, K., & Wills, C. (2023). Diamond Blackfan Anemia. *StatPearls*. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK545302/
- Gak, I. A., Vasiljevic, D., Zerjatke, T., Yu, L., Brosch, M., Roumeliotis, T. I., Horenburg, C., Klemm, N., Bakos, G., Herrmann, A., Hampe, J., Glauche, I., Choudhary, J. S., & Mansfeld, J. (2020). UFMylation regulates translational homeostasis and cell cycle progression. *BioRxiv*, 2020.02.03.931196. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.02.03.931196
- Galluzzi, L., Yamazaki, T., & Kroemer, G. (2018). Linking cellular stress responses to systemic homeostasis. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, *19*(11), 731–745. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41580-018-0068-0
- Ghosal, K., Agatemor, C., Han, R. I., Ku, A. T., Thomas, S., & Mukherjee, S. (2020).
 Fanconi Anemia DNA Repair Pathway as a New Mechanism to Exploit Cancer Drug Resistance. *Mini Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry*, *20*(9), 779. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389557520666200103114556
- Habib, Z., Abudaia, J., Bamehriz, F., & Ahmed, S. (2000). Fanconi's anemia with solitary crossed renal ectopia, vesicoureteric reflux, and genital abnormalities. *Pediatric Surgery International*, *16*(1–2), 136–137. https://doi.org/10.1007/S003830050043/METRICS
- Halliwell, B. (2003). Oxidative stress in cell culture: an under-appreciated problem? *FEBS Letters*, *540*(1–3), 3–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(03)00235-7
- Hammarsten, O., Muslimovic, A., Thunström, S., Ek, T., & Johansson, P. (2021). Use of the cell division assay to diagnose Fanconi anemia patients' hypersensitivity to mitomycin C. *Cytometry Part B: Clinical Cytometry*, *100*(3), 370–376. https://doi.org/10.1002/CYTO.B.21950

- Hanna, J., Guerra-Moreno, A., Ang, J., & Micoogullari, Y. (2019). Protein Degradation and the Pathologic Basis of Disease. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *189*(1), 94. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AJPATH.2018.09.004
- Hayashi, Y., Goyama, S., Liu, X. X., Tamura, M., Asada, S., Tanaka, Y., Fukuyama, T.,
 Wunderlich, M., O'Brien, E., Mizukawa, B., Yamazaki, S., Matsumoto, A., Yamasaki,
 S., Shibata, T., Matsuda, K., Sashida, G., Takizawa, H., & Kitamura, T. (2019).
 Antitumor immunity augments the therapeutic effects of p53 activation on acute
 myeloid leukemia. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41467-019-12555-1
- Henninger, E. E., & Pursell, Z. F. (2014). DNA polymerase ε and its roles in genome stability. *IUBMB Life*, *66*(5), 339–351. https://doi.org/10.1002/IUB.1276
- Hermanson, G. T. (2013). The Reactions of Bioconjugation. *Bioconjugate Techniques*, 229–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-382239-0.00003-0
- Herrmann, J., Lerman, L. O., & Lerman, A. (2007). Ubiquitin and Ubiquitin-Like Proteins in Protein Regulation. *Circulation Research*, *100*(9), 1276–1291. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000264500.11888.F0
- Holinstat, M. (2017). Complement factors (H) into thrombosis. *Blood*, *129*(9), 1065–1066. https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD-2017-01-761528
- Holloman, W. K. (2011). Unraveling the mechanism of BRCA2 in homologous recombination. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, *18*(7), 748. https://doi.org/10.1038/NSMB.2096
- Holm, L., Ackland, G. L., Edwards, M. R., Breckenridge, R. A., Sim, R. B., & Offer, J. (2012). Chemical labelling of active serum thioester proteins for quantification. *Immunobiology*, 217(2), 256–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMBIO.2011.07.021
- Housh, K., Jha, J. S., Yang, Z., Haldar, T., Johnson, K. M., Yin, J., Wang, Y., & Gates, K. S. (2021). Formation and Repair of an Interstrand DNA Cross-Link Arising from a Common Endogenous Lesion. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *143*(37), 15344–15357.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/JACS.1C06926/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/JA1C06926_0008.J

PEG

- Huang, M., Kim, J. M., Shiotani, B., Yang, K., Zou, L., & D'Andrea, A. D. (2010). The FANCM/FAAP24 complex is required for the DNA interstrand crosslink-induced checkpoint response. *Molecular Cell*, 39(2), 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.07.005
- Hurley, J. H., Lee, S., & Prag, G. (2006). Ubiquitin-binding domains. *Biochemical Journal*, 399(Pt 3), 361. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20061138
- Imani Nejad, M., Housh, K., Rodriguez, A. A., Haldar, T., Kathe, S., Wallace, S. S., Eichman, B. F., & Gates, K. S. (2020). Unhooking of an interstrand cross-link at DNA fork structures by the DNA glycosylase NEIL3. *DNA Repair*, 86. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DNAREP.2019.102752
- Ishimura, R., El-Gowily, A. H., Noshiro, D., Komatsu-Hirota, S., Ono, Y., Shindo, M., Hatta, T., Abe, M., Uemura, T., Lee-Okada, H. C., Mohamed, T. M., Yokomizo, T., Ueno, T., Sakimura, K., Natsume, T., Sorimachi, H., Inada, T., Waguri, S., Noda, N. N., & Komatsu, M. (2022). The UFM1 system regulates ER-phagy through the ufmylation of CYB5R3. *Nature Communications 2022 13:1*, *13*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-35501-0
- Izutsu, K., Kurokawa, M., Imai, Y., Maki, K., Mitani, K., & Hirai, H. (2001). The corepressor CtBP interacts with Evi-1 to repress transforming growth factor β signaling. *Blood*, *97*(9), 2815–2822. https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD.V97.9.2815
- Jabbour, R., Salem, H., & Sidell, F. R. (2014). Nitrogen Mustards. Encyclopedia of Toxicology: Third Edition, 560–566. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-386454-3.00636-9
- Jaber, S., Toufektchan, E., Lejour, V., Bardot, B., & Toledo, F. (2016). p53 downregulates the Fanconi anaemia DNA repair pathway. *Nature Communications 2016 7:1*, 7(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11091
- Jakobs, P. M., Sahaayaruban, P., Saito, H., Reifsteck, C., Olson, S., Joenje, H., Moses, R. E., & Grompe, M. (1996). Immortalization of four new fanconi anemia fibroblast cell lines by an improved procedure. *Somatic Cell and Molecular Genetics*, 22(2), 151–157. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02369905/METRICS

- Jeong, E., Lee, S. G., Kim, H. S., Yang, J., Shin, J., Kim, Y., Kim, J., Schärer, O. D., Kim, Y., Yeo, J. E., Kim, H. M., & Cho, Y. (2020). Structural basis of the fanconi anemiaassociated mutations within the FANCA and FANCG complex. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 48(6), 3328–3342. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKAA062
- Jiang, Q., Wang, Y., Xiang, M., Hua, J., Zhou, T., Chen, F., Lv, X., Huang, J., & Cai, Y. (2023). UFL1, a UFMylation E3 ligase, plays a crucial role in multiple cellular stress responses. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, *14*, 1123124. https://doi.org/10.3389/FENDO.2023.1123124/BIBTEX
- Kais, Z., Rondinelli, B., Holmes, A., O'Leary, C., Kozono, D., D'Andrea, A. D., & Ceccaldi, R. (2016). FANCD2 maintains fork stability in BRCA1/2-deficient tumors and promotes alternative end-joining DNA repair. *Cell Reports*, *15*(11), 2488. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2016.05.031
- Kallen, M. E., Dulau-Florea, A., Wang, W., & Calvo, K. R. (2019). Acquired and germline predisposition to bone marrow failure: Diagnostic features and clinical implications. *Seminars in Hematology*, *56*(1), 69–82. https://doi.org/10.1053/J.SEMINHEMATOL.2018.05.016
- Kang, M. H., Yoon, H. Y., & Choi, Y. W. (2017). RIPL peptide as a novel cell-penetrating and homing peptide: design, characterization, and application to liposomal nanocarriers for hepsin-specific intracellular drug delivery. *Nanostructures for Cancer Therapy*, 129–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-46144-3.00005-2
- Kelaidi, C., Makis, A., Petrikkos, L., Antoniadi, K., Selenti, N., Tzotzola, V., Ioannidou, E. D., Tsitsikas, K., Kitra, V., Kalpini-Mavrou, A., Fryssira, H., & Polychronopoulou, S. (2019). Bone Marrow Failure in Fanconi Anemia: Clinical and Genetic Spectrum in a Cohort of 20 Pediatric Patients. *Journal of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology*, *41*(8), 612–617. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPH.00000000001549
- Kijas, A. W., Lim, Y. C., Bolderson, E., Cerosaletti, K., Gatei, M., Jakob, B., Tobias, F., Taucher-Scholz, G., Gueven, N., Oakley, G., Concannon, P., Wolvetang, E., Khanna, K. K., Wiesmüller, L., & Lavin, M. F. (2015). ATM-dependent phosphorylation of MRE11 controls extent of resection during homology directed repair by signalling through Exonuclease 1. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *43*(17), 8352. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKV754

- Kim, Y., Spitz, G. S., Veturi, U., Lach, F. P., Auerbach, A. D., & Smogorzewska, A. (2013).
 Regulation of multiple DNA repair pathways by the Fanconi anemia protein SLX4.
 Blood, *121*(1), 54–63. https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD-2012-07-441212
- Klein Douwel, D., Boonen, R. A. C. M., Long, D. T., Szypowska, A. A., Räschle, M., Walter, J. C., & Knipscheer, P. (2014). XPF-ERCC1 Acts in Unhooking DNA Interstrand Crosslinks in Cooperation with FANCD2 and FANCP/SLX4. *Molecular Cell*, 54(3), 460–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2014.03.015
- Knipscheer, P., Räschle, M., Smogorzewska, A., Enoiu, M., Ho, T. V., Schärer, O. D.,
 Elledge, S. J., & Walter, J. C. (2009). The Fanconi anemia pathway promotes
 replication-dependent DNA interstrand cross-link repair. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*,
 326(5960), 1698–1701. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1182372
- Komatsu, M., Chiba, T., Tatsumi, K., Lemura, S. I., Tanida, I., Okazaki, N., Ueno, T., Konminani, E., Natsume, T., & Tanaka, K. (2004). A novel protein-conjugating system for Ufm1, a ubiquitin-fold modifier. *The EMBO Journal*, *23*(9), 1977–1986. https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.EMBOJ.7600205
- Kottemann, M. C., & Smogorzewska, A. (2013). Fanconi anaemia and the repair of Watson and Crick DNA crosslinks. *Nature 2013 493*:7432, 493(7432), 356–363. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11863
- Kumar, M., Padala, P., Fahoum, J., Hassouna, F., Tsaban, T., Zoltsman, G., Banerjee, S., Cohen-Kfir, E., Dessau, M., Rosenzweig, R., Isupov, M. N., Schueler-Furman, O., & Wiener, R. (2021). Structural basis for UFM1 transfer from UBA5 to UFC1. *Nature Communications 2021 12:1*, *12*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-25994-6
- Kustikova, O. S., Schwarzer, A., Stahlhut, M., Brugman, M. H., Neumann, T., Yang, M., Li, Z., Schambach, A., Heinz, N., Gerdes, S., Roeder, I., Ha, T. C., Steinemann, D., Schlegelberger, B., & Baum, C. (2013). Activation of Evi1 inhibits cell cycle progression and differentiation of hematopoietic progenitor cells. *Leukemia*, *27*(5), 1127–1138. https://doi.org/10.1038/LEU.2012.355
- Langevin, F., Crossan, G. P., Rosado, I. V., Arends, M. J., & Patel, K. J. (2011). Fancd2 counteracts the toxic effects of naturally produced aldehydes in mice. *Nature*, 475(7354), 53–59. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE10192

- Lee, H. J., Park, S., Kang, H. J., Jun, J. K., Lee, J. A., Lee, D. S., Park, S. S., & Seong, M. W. (2012). A case report of Fanconi anemia diagnosed by genetic testing followed by prenatal diagnosis. *Annals of Laboratory Medicine*, *32*(5), 380–384. https://doi.org/10.3343/ALM.2012.32.5.380
- Lee, L., Oliva, A. B. P., Martinez-Balsalobre, E., Churikov, D., Peter, J., Rahmouni, D.,
 Audoly, G., Azzoni, V., Audebert, S., Camoin, L., Mulero, V., Cayuela, M. L., Kulathu,
 Y., Geli, V., & Lachaud, C. (2021). UFMylation of MRE11 is essential for telomere
 length maintenance and hematopoietic stem cell survival. *Science Advances*, 7(39).
 https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIADV.ABC7371
- Lee, M. J., & Yaffe, M. B. (2016). Protein Regulation in Signal Transduction. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 8(6). https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A005918
- Li, Y., & Zhang, C. (2012). The relationship between Evi-1 expression and mouse ovarian follicular development. *Acta Histochemica*, *114*(2), 79–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ACTHIS.2011.02.009
- Liang, J. R., Lingeman, E., Luong, T., Ahmed, S., Muhar, M., Nguyen, T., Olzmann, J. A., & Corn, J. E. (2020a). A Genome-wide ER-phagy Screen Highlights Key Roles of Mitochondrial Metabolism and ER-Resident UFMylation. *Cell*, *180*(6), 1160-1177.e20. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2020.02.017
- Liang, J. R., Lingeman, E., Luong, T., Ahmed, S., Muhar, M., Nguyen, T., Olzmann, J. A., & Corn, J. E. (2020b). A Genome-wide ER-phagy Screen Highlights Key Roles of Mitochondrial Metabolism and ER-Resident UFMylation. *Cell*, *180*(6), 1160-1177.e20. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2020.02.017
- Liao, X., Makris, M., & Luo, X. M. (2016). Fluorescence-activated Cell Sorting for Purification of Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells from the Mouse Bone Marrow. *Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE*, 2016(117), 54641. https://doi.org/10.3791/54641
- Liu, J., Guan, D., Dong, M., Yang, J., Wei, H., Liang, Q., Song, L., Xu, L., Bai, J., Liu, C., Mao, J., Zhang, Q., Zhou, J., Wu, X., Wang, M., & Cong, Y. S. (2020). UFMylation maintains tumour suppressor p53 stability by antagonizing its ubiquitination. *Nature Cell Biology 2020 22:9*, *22*(9), 1056–1063. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-020-0559-

- Logisz, C. C., & Hovis, J. S. (2005). Effect of salt concentration on membrane lysis pressure. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes*, *1717*(2), 104–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBAMEM.2005.10.002
- London, T. B. C., Barber, L. J., Mosedale, G., Kelly, G. P., Balasubramanian, S., Hickson,
 I. D., Boulton, S. J., & Hiom, K. (2008). FANCJ is a structure-specific DNA helicase associated with the maintenance of genomic G/C tracts. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(52), 36132–36139. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M808152200
- Lopez-Martinez, D., Liang, C. C., & Cohn, M. A. (2016). Cellular response to DNA interstrand crosslinks: the Fanconi anemia pathway. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 2016 73:16*, *73*(16), 3097–3114. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00018-016-2218-X
- Lu, R., Zhang, H., Jiang, Y., Wang, Z., Sun, L., & Zhou, Z. (2021). Post-Translational Modification of MRE11: Its Implication in DDR and Diseases. *Genes 2021, Vol. 12, Page 1158*, 12(8), 1158. https://doi.org/10.3390/GENES12081158
- Lugthart, S., Van Drunen, E., Van Norden, Y., Van Hoven, A., Erpelinck, C. A. J., Valk, P. J. M., Beverloo, H. B., Löwenberg, B., & Delwel, R. (2008). High EVI1 levels predict adverse outcome in acute myeloid leukemia: prevalence of EVI1 overexpression and chromosome 3q26 abnormalities underestimated. *Blood*, *111*(8), 4329–4337. https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD-2007-10-119230
- Luo, K., Li, L., Li, Y., Wu, C., Yin, Y., Chen, Y., Deng, M., Nowsheen, S., Yuan, J., & Lou, Z. (2016). A phosphorylation–deubiquitination cascade regulates the BRCA2–RAD51 axis in homologous recombination. *Genes & Development*, *30*(23), 2581–2595. https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.289439.116
- Machlus, K. R., & Italiano, J. E. (2019). Megakaryocyte Development and Platelet Formation. *Platelets*, 25–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813456-6.00002-3
- Mehta, P. A., Ileri, T., Harris, R. E., Williams, D. A., Mo, J., Smolarek, T., Auerbach, A. D., Kelly, P., & Davies, S. M. (2007). Chemotherapy for myeloid malignancy in children with Fanconi anemia. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, *48*(7), 668–672. https://doi.org/10.1002/PBC.20843

- Mehta, P., & Ebens, C. (2021). Fanconi Anemia. *Fanconi Anemia Research Fund, Inc.*, 1–391. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1401/
- Menolfi, D., & Zha, S. (2020). ATM, ATR and DNA-PKcs kinases—the lessons from the mouse models: inhibition ≠ deletion. *Cell & Bioscience 2020 10:1*, *10*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13578-020-0376-X
- Merbl, Y., Refour, P., Patel, H., Springer, M., & Kirschner, M. W. (2013). Profiling of ubiquitin-like modifications reveals features of mitotic control. *Cell*, *152*(5), 1160– 1172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.02.007
- Merfort, L. W., Lisboa, M. de O., Cavalli, L. R., & Bonfim, C. M. S. (2022). Cytogenetics in Fanconi Anemia: The Importance of Follow-Up and the Search for New Biomarkers of Genomic Instability. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(22). https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS232214119
- Meyer, S., Fergusson, W. D., Whetton, A. D., Moreira-Leite, F., Pepper, S. D., Miller, C., Saunders, E. K., White, D. J., Will, A. M., Eden, T., Ikeda, H., Ullmann, R., Tuerkmen, S., Gerlach, A., Klopocki, E., & Tönnies, H. (2007). Amplification and translocation of 3q26 with overexpression of EVI1 in Fanconi anemia-derived childhood acute myeloid leukemia with biallelic FANCD1/BRCA2 disruption. *Genes, Chromosomes & Cancer*, *46*(4), 359–372. https://doi.org/10.1002/GCC.20417
- Millrine, D., Cummings, T., Matthews, S. P., Peter, J. J., Magnussen, H. M., Lange, S. M., Macartney, T., Lamoliatte, F., Knebel, A., & Kulathu, Y. (2022). Human UFSP1 is an active protease that regulates UFM1 maturation and UFMylation. *Cell Reports*, 40(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2022.111168
- Mitchell, R., Wagner, J. E., Hirsch, B., Defor, T. E., Zierhut, H., & Macmillan, M. L. (2014). Haematopoietic cell transplantation for acute leukaemia and advanced myelodysplastic syndrome in Fanconi anaemia. *British Journal of Haematology*, *164*(3), 384–395. https://doi.org/10.1111/BJH.12634
- Miteva, M., Keusekotten, K., Hofmann, K., Praefcke, G. J. K., & Dohmen, R. J. (2013). Sumoylation as a Signal for Polyubiquitylation and Proteasomal Degradation. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK25447/

- Mochida, K., & Nakatogawa, H. (2022). ER-phagy: selective autophagy of the endoplasmic reticulum. *EMBO Reports*, 23(8). https://doi.org/10.15252/EMBR.202255192
- Morafraile, E. C., Bugallo, A., Carreira, R., Fernández, M., Martín-Castellanos, C., Blanco, M. G., & Segurado, M. (2020). Exo1 phosphorylation inhibits exonuclease activity and prevents fork collapse in rad53 mutants independently of the 14-3-3 proteins. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *48*(6), 3053–3070. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKAA054
- Moreno, O. M., Paredes, A. C., Suarez-Obando, F., & Rojas, A. (2021). An update on Fanconi anemia: Clinical, cytogenetic and molecular approaches (review). *Biomedical Reports*, 15(3), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3892/BR.2021.1450/HTML
- Nagareddy, B., Khan, A., & Kim, H. (2020). Acetylation modulates the Fanconi anemia pathway by protecting FAAP20 from ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 295(40), 13887–13901. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.RA120.015288
- Nitta, E., Izutsu, K., Yamaguchi, Y., Imai, Y., Ogawa, S., Chiba, S., Kurokawa, M., & Hirai, H. (2005). Oligomerization of Evi-1 regulated by the PR domain contributes to recruitment of corepressor CtBP. *Oncogene 2005 24:40*, *24*(40), 6165–6173. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1208754
- Oostra, A. B., Nieuwint, A. W. M., Joenje, H., & De Winter, J. P. (2012). Diagnosis of fanconi anemia: Chromosomal breakage analysis. *Anemia*, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/238731
- Otsuki, T., Wang, J., Demuth, I., Digweed, M., & Liu, J. M. (1998). Assessment of mitomycin C sensitivity in Fanconi anemia complementation group C gene (Fac) knock-out mouse cells. *International Journal of Hematology*, 67(3), 243–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-5710(98)00012-7
- Padilla-Mendoza, J. R., Contis-Montes De Oca, A., Rodríguez, M. A., López-Casamichana, M., Bolanõs, J., Quintas-Granados, L. I., Reyes-Hernández, O. D., Fragozo-Sandoval, F., Reséndiz-Albor, A. A., Arellano-Gutiérrez, C. V., & López-Reyes, I. (2020). Protein Phosphorylation in Serine Residues Correlates with

Progression from Precancerous Lesions to Cervical Cancer in Mexican Patients. *BioMed Research International*, 2020, 11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/5058928

- Papich, M. G. (2016). Dimethyl Sulfoxide (DMSO). *Saunders Handbook of Veterinary Drugs*, 248–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-24485-5.00215-1
- Paredes, R., Kelly, J. R., Geary, B., Almarzouq, B., Schneider, M., Pearson, S., Narayanan, P., Williamson, A., Lovell, S. C., Wiseman, D. H., Chadwick, J. A., Jones, N. J., Kustikova, O., Schambach, A., Garner, T., Amaral, F. M. R., Pierce, A., Stevens, A., Somervaille, T. C. P., ... Meyer, S. (2020). EVI1 phosphorylation at S436 regulates interactions with CtBP1 and DNMT3A and promotes self-renewal. *Cell Death & Disease*, *11*(10). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41419-020-03099-0
- Patel, S. R., Hartwig, J. H., & Italiano, J. E. (2005). The biogenesis of platelets from megakaryocyte proplatelets. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *115*(12), 3348. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI26891
- Periayah, M. H., Halim, A. S., & Saad, A. Z. M. (2017). Mechanism Action of Platelets and Crucial Blood Coagulation Pathways in Hemostasis. *International Journal of Hematology-Oncology and Stem Cell Research*, *11*(4), 319. /pmc/articles/PMC5767294/
- Peter, J. J., Magnussen, H. M., DaRosa, P. A., Millrine, D., Matthews, S. P., Lamoliatte, F., Sundaramoorthy, R., Kopito, R. R., & Kulathu, Y. (2022). A non-canonical scaffoldtype E3 ligase complex mediates protein UFMylation. *The EMBO Journal*, *41*(21), e111015. https://doi.org/10.15252/EMBJ.2022111015
- Petryk, A., Shankar, R. K., Giri, N., Hollenberg, A. N., Rutter, M. M., Nathan, B., Lodish, M., Alter, B. P., Stratakis, C. A., & Rose, S. R. (2015). Review: Endocrine Disorders in Fanconi Anemia: Recommendations for Screening and Treatment. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *100*(3), 803. https://doi.org/10.1210/JC.2014-4357
- Qin, B., Yu, J., Nowsheen, S., Wang, M., Tu, X., Liu, T., Li, H., Wang, L., & Lou, Z. (2019). UFL1 promotes histone H4 ufmylation and ATM activation. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41467-019-09175-0

- Rageul, J., & Kim, H. (2020). Fanconi anemia and the underlying causes of genomic instability. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis*, 61(7), 693–708. https://doi.org/10.1002/EM.22358
- Ramazi, S., & Zahiri, J. (2021). Post-translational modifications in proteins: resources, tools and prediction methods. *Database*, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1093/DATABASE/BAAB012
- Renaudin, X., & Rosselli, F. (2020). The FANC/BRCA Pathway Releases Replication Blockades by Eliminating DNA Interstrand Cross-Links. *Genes 2020, Vol. 11, Page* 585, 11(5), 585. https://doi.org/10.3390/GENES11050585
- Rodríguez, A., Epperly, M., Filiatrault, J., Velázquez, M., Yang, C., McQueen, K., Sambel, L. A., Nguyen, H., Iyer, D. R., Juárez, U., Ayala-Zambrano, C., Martignetti, D. B., Frías, S., Fisher, R., Parmar, K., Greenberger, J. S., & D'Andrea, A. D. (2022). TGFβ pathway is required for viable gestation of Fanconi anemia embryos. *PLOS Genetics*, *18*(11), e1010459. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PGEN.1010459
- Sarbajna, S., Davies, D., & West, S. C. (2014). Roles of SLX1–SLX4, MUS81–EME1, and GEN1 in avoiding genome instability and mitotic catastrophe. *Genes* & *Development*, *28*(10), 1124–1136. https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.238303.114
- Sathyanarayana, V., Lee, B., Wright, N. B., Santos, R., Bonney, D., Wynn, R., Patel, L., Chandler, K., Cheesman, E., Schindler, D., Webb, N. J. A., & Meyer, S. (2018).
 Patterns and frequency of renal abnormalities in Fanconi anaemia: implications for long-term management. *Pediatric Nephrology (Berlin, Germany)*, 33(9), 1547. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00467-018-3952-0
- Scaglione, K. M., Basrur, V., Ashraf, N. S., Konen, J. R., Elenitoba-Johnson, K. S. J.,
 Todi, S. V., & Paulson, H. L. (2013). The Ubiquitin-conjugating Enzyme (E2) Ube2w
 Ubiquitinates the N Terminus of Substrates. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*,
 288(26), 18784. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.C113.477596
- Scavone, F., Gumbin, S. C., Da Rosa, P. A., & Kopito, R. R. (2023a). RPL26/uL24 UFMylation is essential for ribosome-associated quality control at the endoplasmic reticulum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 120(16). https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2220340120

- Scavone, F., Gumbin, S. C., Da Rosa, P. A., & Kopito, R. R. (2023b). RPL26/uL24
 UFMylation is essential for ribosome-associated quality control at the endoplasmic reticulum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *120*(16), e2220340120.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2220340120/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.2220340120.SAPP.
 PDF
- Seyfried, N. T., Xu, P., Duong, D. M., Cheng, D., Hanfelt, J., & Peng, J. (2008). Systematic approach for validating the ubiquitinated proteome. *Analytical Chemistry*, *80*(11), 4161. https://doi.org/10.1021/AC702516A
- Sharma, S., & Canman, C. E. (2012). REV1 and DNA polymerase zeta in DNA interstrand crosslink repair. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis*, 53(9), 725– 740. https://doi.org/10.1002/EM.21736
- Singh, T. R., Saro, D., Ali, A. M., Zheng, X. F., Du, C. hu, Killen, M. W., Sachpatzidis, A., Wahengbam, K., Pierce, A. J., Xiong, Y., Sung, P., & Meetei, A. R. (2010). MHF1-MHF2, a Histone-Fold-Containing Protein Complex, Participates in the Fanconi Anemia Pathway via FANCM. *Molecular Cell*, 37(6), 879–886. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.01.036
- Sousa, R., Gonçalves, C., Guerra, I. C., Costa, E., Fernandes, A., Do Bom Sucesso, M., Azevedo, J., Rodriguez, A., Rius, R., Seabra, C., Ferreira, F., Ribeiro, L., Ferrão, A., Castedo, S., Cleto, E., Coutinho, J., Carvalho, F., Barbot, J., & Porto, B. (2016). Increased red cell distribution width in Fanconi anemia: a novel marker of stress erythropoiesis. *Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S13023-016-0485-0
- Steinberg-Shemer, O., Goldberg, T. A., Yacobovich, J., Levin, C., Koren, A., Revel-Vilk, S., Ben-Ami, T., Kuperman, A. A., Zemer, V. S., Toren, A., Kapelushnik, J., Ben-Barak, A., Miskin, H., Krasnov, T., Noy-Lotan, S., Dgany, O., & Tamary, H. (2020).
 Characterization and genotype-phenotype correlation of patients with Fanconi anemia in a multi-ethnic population. *Haematologica*, *105*(7), 1825–1834. https://doi.org/10.3324/HAEMATOL.2019.222877
- Stephani, M., Picchianti, L., Gajic, A., Beveridge, R., Skarwan, E., Hernandez, V. S. de M., Mohseni, A., Clavel, M., Zeng, Y., Naumann, C., Matuszkiewicz, M., Turco, E.,

Loefke, C., Li, B., Durnberger, G., Schutzbier, M., Chen, H. T., Abdrakhmanov, A., Savova, A., ... Dagdas, Y. (2020). A cross-kingdom conserved er-phagy receptor maintains endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis during stress. *ELife*, *9*, 1–105. https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.58396

- Stewart, M. D., Ritterhoff, T., Klevit, R. E., & Brzovic, P. S. (2016). E2 enzymes: more than just middle men. *Cell Research 2016 26:4*, *26*(4), 423–440. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.35
- Stivaros, S. M., Alston, R., Wright, N. B., Chandler, K., Bonney, D., Wynn, R. F., Will, A. M., Punekar, M., Loughran, S., Kilday, J. P., Schindler, D., Patel, L., & Meyer, S. (2015). Central nervous system abnormalities in Fanconi anaemia: patterns and frequency on magnetic resonance imaging. *British Journal of Radiology*, *88*(1056). https://doi.org/10.1259/BJR.20150088
- Streich, F. C., & Lima, C. D. (2014). Structural and Functional Insights to Ubiquitin-Like Protein Conjugation. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev-Biophys-051013-022958*, 43(1), 357–379. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-BIOPHYS-051013-022958
- Sung, H. K., Gi, R. K., Seong, M., Sung, H. B., Jae, H. S., Ok, S. B., Ovaa, H., Tatsumi, K., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., & Chin, H. C. (2007). Two novel ubiquitin-fold modifier 1 (Ufm1)-specific proteases, UfSP1 and UfSP2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(8), 5256–5262. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M610590200
- Suzuki, Y., Onodera, H., Tago, H., Saito, R., Ohuchi, M., Shimizu, M., & Itoyama, Y. (2005). Altered populations of natural killer cell and natural killer T cell subclasses in myasthenia gravis. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, *167*(1–2), 186–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2005.06.015
- Takagi, M., Absalon, M. J., McLure, K. G., & Kastan, M. B. (2005). Regulation of p53 translation and induction after DNA damage by ribosomal protein L26 and nucleolin. *Cell*, 123(1), 49–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.07.034
- Taniguchi, T., Garcia-Higuera, I., Xu, B., Andreassen, P. R., Gregory, R. C., Kim, S. T., Lane, W. S., Kastan, M. B., & D'Andrea, A. D. (2002). Convergence of the Fanconi anemia and ataxia telangiectasia signaling pathways. *Cell*, *109*(4), 459–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00747-X

- Tao, Y., Jin, C., Li, X., Qi, S., Chu, L., Niu, L., Yao, X., & Teng, M. (2012). The structure of the FANCM–MHF complex reveals physical features for functional assembly. *Nature Communications 2012 3:1*, 3(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1779
- Thakur, B., & Hiwale, K. M. (2023). Fanconi Anemia: A Rare Genetic Disorder. *Cureus*. https://doi.org/10.7759/CUREUS.38899

The Human Protein Atlas. (2023). The Human Protein Atlas. https://www.proteinatlas.org/

- Tomimatsu, N., Mukherjee, B., Catherine Hardebeck, M., Ilcheva, M., Vanessa Camacho, C., Louise Harris, J., Porteus, M., Llorente, B., Khanna, K. K. um, & Burma, S. (2014). Phosphorylation of EXO1 by CDKs 1 and 2 regulates DNA end resection and repair pathway choice. *Nature Communications 2014 5:1*, *5*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4561
- Tsilou, E. T., Giri, N., Weinstein, S., Mueller, C., Savage, S. A., & Alter, B. P. (2010). OCULAR AND ORBITAL MANIFESTATIONS OF THE INHERITED BONE MARROW FAILURE SYNDROMES: FANCONI ANEMIA AND DYSKERATOSIS CONGENITA. Ophthalmology, 117(3), 615. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.OPHTHA.2009.08.023
- Tsui, V., & Crismani, W. (2019). The Fanconi Anemia Pathway and Fertility. *Trends in Genetics : TIG*, *35*(3), 199–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TIG.2018.12.007
- Velleuer, E., & Dietrich, R. (2014). Fanconi anemia: young patients at high risk for squamous cell carcinoma. *Molecular and Cellular Pediatrics*, 1(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40348-014-0009-8
- Walczak, C. P., Leto, D. E., Zhang, L., Riepe, C., Muller, R. Y., DaRosa, P. A., Ingolia, N. T., Elias, J. E., & Kopito, R. R. (2019). Ribosomal protein RPL26 is the principal target of UFMylation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *116*(4), 1299–1308.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1816202116/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.1816202116.SD05.X LSX
- Wang, L., Xu, Y., Rogers, H., Saidi, L., Noguchi, C. T., Li, H., Yewdell, J. W., Guydosh, N. R., & Ye, Y. (2020). UFMylation of RPL26 links translocation-associated quality control to endoplasmic reticulum protein homeostasis. *Cell Research*, *30*(1), 5–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41422-019-0236-6

- Wang, Q. J., Shen, Y. E., Wang, X., Fu, S., Zhang, X., Zhang, Y. N., & Wang, R. T. (2020). Concomitant memantine and lactobacillus plantarum treatment attenuates cognitive impairments in APP/PS1 mice. *Aging*, *12*(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.102645
- Wang, R. C., & Wang, Z. (2022). Synchronization of Cultured Cells to G1, S, G2, and M Phases by Double Thymidine Block. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 2579, 61–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-0716-2736-5_5/COVER
- Wang, X., Zheng, B., Li, S., Mulvihill, J. J., Wood, M. C., & Liu, H. (2009). Automated classification of metaphase chromosomes: Optimization of an adaptive computerized scheme. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, *42*(1), 22–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JBI.2008.05.004
- Wienk, H., Slootweg, J. C., Speerstra, S., Kaptein, R., Boelens, R., & Folkers, G. E. (2013). The Fanconi anemia associated protein FAAP24 uses two substrate specific binding surfaces for DNA recognition. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *41*(13), 6739. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKT354
- Wöll, A. K., Desombre, M., Enghauser, L., & Hubbuch, J. (2020). A phase diagram-based toolbox to assess the impact of freeze/thaw ramps on the phase behavior of proteins. *Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering*, *43*(2), 179–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00449-019-02215-5
- Wöll, A. K., & Hubbuch, J. (2020). Investigation of the reversibility of freeze/thaw stressinduced protein instability using heat cycling as a function of different cryoprotectants. *Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering*, *43*(7), 1309. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00449-020-02327-3
- Xie, J., Kim, H., Moreau, L. A., Puhalla, S., Garber, J., Al Abo, M., Takeda, S., & D'Andrea, A. D. (2015). RNF4-mediated polyubiquitination regulates the Fanconi anemia/BRCA pathway. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *125*(4), 1523–1532. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI79325
- Xu, X., Vatsyayan, J., Gao, C., Bakkenist, C. J., & Hu, J. (2010). Sumoylation of eIF4E activates mRNA translation. *EMBO Reports*, *11*(4), 299–304. https://doi.org/10.1038/EMBOR.2010.18

- Yamamoto, K. N., Kobayashi, S., Tsuda, M., Kurumizaka, H., Takata, M., Kono, K., Jiricny, J., Takeda, S., & Hirota, K. (2011). Involvement of SLX4 in interstrand crosslink repair is regulated by the Fanconi anemia pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(16), 6492–6496. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1018487108/SUPPL FILE/PNAS.201018487SI.PDF
- Yiangou, L., Grandy, R. A., Morell, C. M., Tomaz, R. A., Osnato, A., Kadiwala, J., Muraro, D., Garcia-Bernardo, J., Nakanoh, S., Bernard, W. G., Ortmann, D., McCarthy, D. J., Simonic, I., Sinha, S., & Vallier, L. (2019). Method to Synchronize Cell Cycle of Human Pluripotent Stem Cells without Affecting Their Fundamental Characteristics. *Stem Cell Reports*, *12*(1), 165–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEMCR.2018.11.020
- Yoo, H. M., Park, J. H., Kim, J. Y., & Chung, C. H. (2022). Modification of ERα by UFM1 Increases Its Stability and Transactivity for Breast Cancer Development. *Molecules and Cells*, 45(6), 425–434. https://doi.org/10.14348/MOLCELLS.2022.0029
- You, Z., & Bailis, J. M. (2010). DNA damage and decisions: CtIP coordinates DNA repair and cell cycle checkpoints. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 20(7), 402–409. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TCB.2010.04.002
- Yuan, X., Wang, X., Bi, K., & Jiang, G. (2015). The role of EVI-1 in normal hematopoiesis and myeloid malignancies (review). *International Journal of Oncology*, 47(6), 2028– 2036. https://doi.org/10.3892/IJO.2015.3207/HTML
- Zhang, M., Zhang, J., Yan, W., & Chen, X. (2016). p73 expression is regulated by ribosomal protein RPL26 through mRNA translation and protein stability. *Oncotarget*, 7(48), 78255–78268. https://doi.org/10.18632/ONCOTARGET.13126
- Zhang, Y., Zhang, M., Wu, J., Lei, G., & Li, H. (2012). Transcriptional regulation of the Ufm1 conjugation system in response to disturbance of the endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis and inhibition of vesicle trafficking. *PloS One*, 7(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0048587
- Zhao, F., Kim, W., Kloeber, J. A., & Lou, Z. (2020). DNA end resection and its role in DNA replication and DSB repair choice in mammalian cells. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine 2020 52:10*, *52*(10), 1705–1714. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-020-00519-1
Supplementary Figures



Supplementary Figure 1 - **Multi-day proliferation assay with FA and non-FA lymphocyte cell lines.** Proliferation assay with lymphocyte MRN and CB15-0387 (FancP/SLX4 mutant) cell lines within 96well plate to assess optimum growth concentration over 72 hours with WST-1 exposure over cumulative 3 hours.



Supplementary Figure 2 – Multi-day proliferation assay with SV40-transformed FA fibroblast cell lines. Proliferation assay with fibroblast PD20 (FancD2 \checkmark mutant) and PD20 RV:D2 (FancD2 \checkmark plus RetroViral FANCD2 transgene) cell lines within 96-well plate to assess optimum growth concentration over 72 hours with WST-1 exposure over cumulative 3 hours.



Supplementary Figure 3 – **Cell harvest density for RIPA buffer Western Blot** lysate preparation for **A** Lymphocyte cell lines MRN and CB15-0387 (FancP/SLX4 mutant) **B** Fibroblast cell lines PD20:RVD2 and PD20 (Jakobs et al., 2012).



Ysgoloriaethau Sgiliau Economi Gwybodaeth Knowledge Economy Skills Scholarships

Mae'r Ysgoloriaeth Sgiliau Economi Gwybodaeth (KESS 2) yn fenter sgiliau lefel uwch Cymru gyfan a arweinir gan Brifysgol Bangor ar ran y sector AU yng Nghymru. Fe'i cyllidir yn rhannol gan raglen cydgyfeirio Cronfa Gymdeithasol Ewropeaidd (ESF) ar gyfer Gorllewin Cymru a'r Cymoedd.

Knowledge Economy Skills Scholarships (KESS 2) is a pan-Wales higher level skills initiative led by Bangor University on behalf of the HE sector in Wales. It is part funded by the Welsh Government's European Social Fund (ESF) convergence programme for West Wales and the Valleys.

Appendix



Appendix Figure 1 – Full western blot images of Figure 7.



Appendix Figure 2 - Full western blot images of Figure 9 and Figure 10.



Appendix Figure 3 - Full western blot images of Figure 12.



Appendix Figure 4 – Full western blot images of Figure 13.



Appendix Figure 5 - Full western blot image of 200mM NaCl RPL26 IP in Figure 17.



Appendix Figure 6 – Full western blot image of 50mM NaCl RPL26 IP in Figure 18.



Appendix Figure 7 – Full western blot of 200mM NaCl EVI1 IP in Figure 19.